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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM"”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any Statement herein or
this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FEHS

Dear shareholders,

| present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 on
behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”).

In 2024, the challenges of global economic and geopolitical
conflicts continued to intensify, putting pressure on the businesses
of all sizes worldwide. In the face of these challenges, the Group
continuously adjusted its business strategy to maintain
competitiveness and market position. At the same time, the rapid
development of artificial intelligence domestically has provided
strong support for cloud services, enabling us to remain flexible
and innovative in an ever-changing market environment.

In order to pursue excellence in its core business, the Group
decided to dispose of the overseas cloud services business (“AWS
cloud services business”) within the smart retail business. This
strategic adjustment enabled us to fully commit to the operation of
domestic smart retail services and the newly developed automotive
culture business. This move not only effectively integrated
resources but also enhanced the Group’s business
competitiveness, laying a solid foundation for future growth.
Besides cloud solutions, the Group will explore business
opportunities in other smart retail system and services.

In March 2025, with the General Office of the CPC Central
committee and the General Office of the State Council issuing the
“Special Action Plan to Boost Consumption”, the market demand for
automotive-related accessories and fashion goods is continuously
increasing. We expect the automotive culture business to gradually
expand. The Group will continue to closely monitor market
development trends and formulate flexible and pragmatic business
strategies to capture new opportunities amid changes, driving the
Group's sustainable growth.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all our employees and the management team,
customers and business partners, and thank all shareholders for
their continued trust and support. The Group will continually
promote its steady business growth to create greater returns for
the shareholders.

Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw Rt

BUSINESS REVIEW

Smart Retail Business

The Group's smart retail business is operated under its subsidiary,
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”), which positions itself as an integrated smart retail
provider. Its main business is to provide new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated software service
platform to chain enterprises and merchants, and extended
services such as cloud services (cloud storage and cloud
computing), omni-channel payment services and SMS marketing
services. The market demand for domestic cloud services business
is stable, and this business has become the focal point of
development of the Group.

In August 2024, as the Group considered that competition in the
cloud business market has become increasingly fierce and the
cloud services business incurred high costs with relatively low
margins, the Board resolved to sell the AWS cloud services
business. The Board was of the view that downsizing the scale of
the Group's cloud services and disposing the AWS cloud services
business would allow the Group to better allocate its resources
towards developing other value-added services and products and
exploring new business opportunities. Therefore, the AWS cloud
services business has been classified as a discontinued operation.
As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
27 August 2024, all terms of the sale and purchase agreement
regarding the disposal have been fulfilled, and the completion of
the disposal took place on 31 August 2024 in accordance with its
terms. In other words, the Company sold its AWS cloud services
business to Shenzhen Tiankun Technology Co., Ltd for a cash
consideration of USD600,000. Details are disclosed in the audited
consolidated financial statements in this report under note 14
“Discontinued Operations” and note 32 “Disposal of Business”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmN D Hh

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’'s continuing
operation of domestic cloud services business generated revenue
of approximately HK$26,749,000 (2023: approximately
HK$16,231,000) and recorded an operating loss of approximately
HK$3,928,000 (2023 approximately HK$6,290,000). The Group’s
discontinued operation of AWS cloud services business recorded
revenue of approximately HK$2,191,000 (2023: approximately
HK$5,780,000) and an operating profit of approximately HK$490,000
(2023: approximately HK$2,974,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s smart retail
business recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$28,940,000
(2023: approximately HK$22,011,000) and recorded an operating
loss of approximately HK$3,438,000 (2023: approximately
HK$3,316,000). The increase in revenue generated from the smart
retail business for the year ended 31 December 2024 was primarily
due to the increase in data usage compared to the corresponding
period in 2023. Such increase in data usage was primarily
attributable to the extensive application of artificial intelligence,
Internet-of-Things, big data analysis and others, which in turn
boosted demand for domestic cloud services.

Automotive Culture Business

The Group’s automotive culture business is operated under its
subsidiary, Hangzhou lJike Chufa Network Technology Co., Ltd.
("Jike Chufa”). Against the backdrop of increasing consumer
demand for automotive-related accessories and peripheral
products, the Group’s newly launched automotive culture business
demonstrates strong market potential. Consumers’ lifestyles are
becoming increasingly diverse, and in addition to focusing on the
performance of the vehicle itself, they also expect suitable leisure
and outdoor activity products. The Group’s strategy for its
automotive culture business is to collaborate with other car
manufacturers to provide customized designs based on demand
with products including backpacks and cameras. Orders are placed
through the online platforms of these car manufacturers to achieve
efficient supply. This strategy not only expands our market
coverage but also leverages the brand influence of our partners to
further enter the consumer’'s awareness. For the period from
9 November 2023 (the date of incorporation of Jike Chufa) to
31 December 2024, the automotive culture business of the Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$169,000 and an operating
profit of approximately HK$2,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw Rt

Lottery Business

The Group had ceased the lottery business in 2023, in order to
focus the Group’s resources on smart retail business after
considering that the lottery business had kept recording an
operating loss and its future operation would remain unfavorable to
the Group. Therefore, the lottery business has been classified as a
discontinued operation of the Group. For the vyear ended
31 December 2024, the lottery business of the Group did not
generate any revenue (2023: nil) and did not record any operating
loss (2023: approximately HK$462,000).

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND TREASURY POLICIES

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$29,109,000
(2023: approximately HK$22,011,000), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 32%. The revenue of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was derived from its smart retail
business and automotive culture business.

The Group's discontinued operations, being its lottery business and
AWS cloud services business, had achieved a profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$2,524,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
the lottery business and AWS cloud services business had incurred
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$104,000).

The Group recorded the loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$7,598,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$10,108,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 25% as compared to the corresponding period in
2023. The decrease was attributable to the gain on disposal of the
Group’s AWS cloud services business as well as the increase in
data usage in the Group's smart retail business for the year ended
31 December 2024 as compared with that for the year ended
31 December 2023. The increase in data usage was primarily
attributable to the extensive application of artificial intelligence,
Internet-of-Things, big data analysis and others, which in turn
boosted demand for domestic cloud services.

The Group adopted centralized treasury policies in cash and
financial management and focuses on reducing the Group's overall
interest expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREw

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded total assets of
approximately HK$15,684,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$32,777,000), total liabilities of approximately HK$5,458,000
(31 December 2023: approximately HK$15,657,000) and cash and
bank balances of approximately HK$13,281,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$17,996,000), which were denominated in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and US dollars. The current ratio of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 3
(31 December 2023: approximately 2).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no bank borrowings or
facilities (31 December 2023: nil) and the gearing ratio of the Group
was nil (31 December 2023: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$10,775,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$18,382,000) comprising issued share capital and reserves. As at
31 December 2024, the Company’s total number of issued shares
(the “Shares”) was 4,686,048,381 Shares of HK$0.005 each
(31 December 2023: 4,686,048,381 Shares).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (31 December 2023: nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not make
any payment (for the year ended 31 December 2023: nil) for the
purchase of property, plant and equipment and had no specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEw Rt

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s sales and purchases were mostly denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars ("HK$") and Renminbi (“RMB").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates of
RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical exchange
rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by the
government of the PRC. The exchange rates may also be affected
by economic developments and political changes domestically and
internationally, and the demand and supply of RMB. The
appreciation or devaluation of RMB against HK$ may have impact
on the results of the Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises. The
Group did not enter into any foreign exchange forward contracts or
other hedging instruments to hedge against fluctuation during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group’s business growth will be propelled by its
smart retail business and automotive culture business. With the
popularization of generative artificial intelligence and other
technologies, it is expected to drive the demand for smart retail
services in the future. Benefiting from the trade-in of consumer
goods policy in the PRC, the Group expects a significant increase in
market demand for peripheral products of automobiles. The Group
will continue to adjust its operational strategies, implement
cost-saving measures, and focus resources on businesses with
growth potential. At the same time, the Group will continue to pay
attention to the development trends of the market and the
consumer demand, and actively explore new opportunities to
maintain a competitive edge.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmN D Hh

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 12 employees
(31 December 2023: 21 employees) in total.

Total staff cost including total Director's remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$6,472,000
(for the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$11,162,000).

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group's salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENSREERBREEAR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 44, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Sun is
also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Currently, Mr. Sun
also serves as the chairman of the board, chief executive officer
and an executive director of 51 Credit Card Inc. (“51 Credit Card"”)
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051), which has
interests in such number of shares of the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as disclosed in the section headed “INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY" of this report and a director of various
subsidiaries of its group including, among others, Hangzhou Enniu
Network Technology Co., Ltd. as well as Shanghai Wuniu Network
Technology Co., Ltd. and 51RENPIN.COM INC., both of which has
interests in such number of shares of the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance as disclosed in the section headed “INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY" of this report.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor's degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC
in June 2002. He has been engaging in Internet businesses since
2004, and founded several Internet companies from 2004 to 2012.
In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
under 51 Credit Card.

Ms. Wu Shan, aged 40, has been appointed as an executive
Director, the authorised representative and the compliance officer
of the Company since April 2022. Ms. Wu is an executive director
and a vice-president of 51 Credit Card. Ms. Wu is mainly
responsible for business management, the investment, finance and
legal affairs of 51 Credit Card and its subsidiaries (including the
Company and its subsidiaries). She has extensive and solid
experience in corporate and commercial affairs. Ms. Wu has held
senior position in the corporate legal department of a large state-
owned enterprise, and subsequently joined 51 Credit Card in
November 2014.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFENEREERREEXR

Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor's degree in science majoring in
mathematics and applied mathematics from Hubei University in the
PRC in June 2008 and obtained a Master's degree in law from
Nankai University in the PRC in June 2012. Ms. Wu currently holds
a legal professional qualification certificate in the PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael, aged 60, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Yu is
also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of commerce degree
from University of New South Wales in Australia. He is a fellow
member of the CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He had held senior
management positions in several listed companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Yu is currently an independent non-executive director of each
of Golden Resources Development International Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 677), Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1225),
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (formerly known as: Unity
Investments Holdings Limited) (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 913), and WT Group Holdings Limited (listed on Stock
Exchange, stock code: 8422), respectively. He also is currently an
executive director of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8006). Mr. Yu was an independent
non-executive director of Novautek Technologies Group Limited
(formerly known as: Applied Development Holdings Limited) (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519) from September 2016 to
December 2024.

Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Yu has many years of
experience in accounting, corporate finance and asset
management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENSREERBREEAR

Ms. Liu Jia, aged 39, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2022. Ms. Liu is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Liu is a lawyer
qualified to practise in Mainland China. Ms. Liu has over 10 years
of experience in handling legal aspects of contractual disputes and
collection of non-performing assets in Mainland China, and she is
currently a partner of Sichuan Toping Law Firm (P9)1|[E 2 EhE 75
Ffr).

Ms. Liu obtained a Bachelor's degree in law from Tianjin University
in the PRC in July 2009 and a Master’'s degree in international law
from Nankai University in the PRC in June 2011.

Mr. Song Ke, aged 59, has been appointed as an independent
non- executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Song is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Song has over twenty years’ experience in the
entertainment and media industry. Mr. Song founded “Maitian
Music” in 1996 and had served as its general manager for four
years since 1996, and then served as the executive vice-president
and production director for Warner Music (China) from 2000 to
2004. Mr. Song founded Beijing Taihe Rye Music Co., Ltd. in 2004
and had served as the chief executive officer and also the
president of Taihe Media Investment Co., Ltd. for eight years. He
joined Evergrande Music as the chairman of the board from 2012
to 2015, worked for Beijing Alibaba Music Technology Co., Ltd. as
the chief executive officer and the chairman of the board from
2015 to 2018; and served as the chairman in the China region of
Live Nation Entertainment, Inc. (listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, ticker: LYV) from 2019 to 2020. Mr. Song graduated from
the Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 1988 with a Bachelor’s
degree in environmental engineering.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2024 by
business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 105
to 199.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company, a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) was adopted
by the Board which aims to allow the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future
growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s ability to
pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not limited to,
the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and any
other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board may
consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition
to the interim and/or final dividends. The Board reviews the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended
31 December 2024, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Company since 31 December 2024 and an indication
of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT”, “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”, “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT"
and "ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” of this
report. These discussions form part of this “REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’'s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group also
implements green office practices such as promoting the use of
recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off
idle lighting and electrical appliances. The Board is satisfied with
the Group’'s performance on reduction of the greenhouse gas
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and
practices in the operation of the Group's businesses and enhancing
environmental sustainability. During the year ended 31 December
2024 the Group’s business activities continued to be carried out in
compliance with the environmental policy of the Group.

For more details, please refer to the "ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” section in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
financial reporting matters including a review of the annual
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2024 prior to
recommending them to the Board for approval.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate its employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of its employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its customer and suppliers to achieve its long-
term goals. Accordingly, the Directors have kept good
communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business
updates with them when appropriate. During the year ended
31 December 2024, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its business partners.

For more details, please refer to the “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” section in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in notes 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 December
2024, the Company did not have any reserves available for
distribution (2023: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-emptive
rights which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares to its
existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
on page 200 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of
treasury shares) during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
legal liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During
the vyear, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of
the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong
employees, the Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

Regarding the employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant
labour laws, rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
participates in defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“"Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the relevant local
government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required
to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no forfeited
contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions (2023: nil).

Details of the Group's contributions to the retirement schemes are
shown in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Ccompany, or subsisted during or at the end of the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS BFEEL

No contracts, which were not a contract of service with any ER > HETUREFTERSELKEEREREE
Director or any person engaged in the full-time employment of our SEAEAE D EFHE 2 EH (LIELRF MBS E
Company, concerning the management and administration of the AR EZ2REEEGEZTAALTIIZRES

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were  £3) o
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS TEERNEERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the £ ZEBEZER L MHEERE DL ERE X

major customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set BB DLW :

out below:

(1) Sales
tHE
— the largest customer
— RAEFR
— the five largest customers (combined)
— AKREFR (&6

(2) Purchases
X
— the largest supplier
— RAMER
— the five largest suppliers (combined)
— AARBER (&6

Approximate
percentage

of the Group’s
total sales
EREEHELEZ
BEA B S

56%

86%

Approximate
percentage

of the Group’s
total purchases
LA EERBHEGEZ
BE49E S LE

36%

68%
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EFTHRS

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any
Shareholders (that, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
Ms. Liu Jia

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 11 to 13
of this report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 17.50A(1) OF THE GEM LISTING
RULES

Changes in the information of the Directors under rule 17.50A(1)
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report are set out below:

o Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael resigned as an independent non-
executive director of Novautek Technologies Group Limited
(formerly known as: Applied Development Holdings Limited)
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519) on 30
December 2024.

o The annual Director’s fee of Ms. Wu Shan as executive Director
has been changed to HK$512,000 with effect from 1 January
2025.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to
the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.
References to the remuneration standards of the industry as well
as the business development of the Company are made to ensure
the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain
the Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than
necessary for this purpose.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
or at the end of the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries at any time during the year. In addition, no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”) (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register of the
Company referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed issuers (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”) as referred to in Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in shares of associated
corporation

EERBRATRETHRAEBRERFE
2 (E AT AR Bk VA B B9 AR 17 ~ AERA AR 193 K2
BEFHEENEZRRE

R2024F 128310 EERARFARBITHAR
RAERBREEMAMEREZR (EERBSFRPER
Bl (TEEF REIE A (BB EPIFES/E) BXV
B) 2Rty ~ HERMD RESFTEEREZF RN
BERAIEXVERE7 R B8N B AN & AR E K HL
Phzgmase (BREREESPEGRNIZZF
BEXBARFHE R ER 2 R IKA) - WIRIESR
5 M HR B R B B 352 Bt sk R PIFFIE 2 & A
BIE Mz @R AE > WIRIRCEM EHIRAISE
5461 ES.67RFII LT AEFETHESRS
2R TIRE ((RFYBTIRE) ANEGEQF R
Rz EmIR AW T -

RHEBEERBZEE

Approximate

Name of Name of associated Capacity and nature Number of percentage of
Directors corporation of interests shares issued shares™
HEBITRINZ
BEENY AR B E B 8 S RkiE=EE i1 &8 BA B D™
Mr. Sun Haitao 51 Credit Card Founder of a discretionary trust who 108,159,464 6.64%
(“Mr. Sun”) can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion®
"mBBERE ENERS AR ER AWM
(MR&%ED THEENBSENNIEEEAIIIAR
Others? 50,355,000 3.09%
E{J@Z)
Others® 142,708,272 8.76%
E{J@Z)
301,222,736 18.48%
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Notes:

(1 The calculations were based on the number of shares as a percentage of the
total number of issued shares of 51 Credit Card (i.e. 1,629,984,225 shares) as
at 31 December 2024.

2 Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is
beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr. Sun),
(i) beneficially holds 108,159,464 shares in 51 Credit Card among which
97,297,298 shares were charged in favour of Hangzhou Zhenniu Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Hangzhou zhenniu”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of 51 Credit Card), a non-qualified lender and which was released
on 13 September 2024; (i) acts as a general partner and controls 51 Xinhu
L.P., which in turn holds 50,355,000 shares in 51 Credit Card; and (iii) holds
142,708,272 shares in 51 Credit Card through various voting proxies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other
Director or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in any shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFQ), as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Required Standard of Dealings.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER

E

PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING xE
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE

COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the
persons or entities, other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company, who had or was deemed to have an interest or a
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Capacity and nature of

Number of Shares
directly or indirectly

FERREEMALIREQERRK
9~ tHRA IR RGP HER R &

20245128318 » REFFHM U TALTRE
B (EEHIEALNARSITHABRIN REATRK
7~ ABRAR N R ESTPHES W RAERIREE
NHAE KRB SEIBIERREBL BRI AABBEEL
EMzERZI AR > NIRBEESMPEKRGSE
XVE B2 B3N RE BB AT INEZ #EER
oy =

Approximate
percentage of

Names interests held and category® issued Shares"
ERMEFEN HERTROEZ

oY) B REENE & 1 8 B R EERI@ WA B L™

Substantial Shareholders

FERRE

51 Credit Card® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

515 R2 RRERNEE 2 5

51 Credit Card (China) Limited®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

SUEAF (RE) BRAF RRERNEE 2 5

Hangzhou Zhenniu®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

N AR RRERNEE 2

Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

("Hangzhou Jiahao")?
MMNEFRZBRLE (MBS @ KRERIEEZ #a
Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
(“Shanghai Wuniu")?
bPeEtREREERAR (TLB1EY) KRESAE 2 #x
51RENPIN.COM INC.? Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
BEmEEA
Mr. Wang Yonghua (“Mr. Wang")® Interest in controlled corporation 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%

FxERE(ERENC

REEREE 2 B
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Capacity and nature of

Number of Shares
directly or indirectly

Approximate
percentage of

Names interests held and category® issued Shares™
EEYMEFEN HERTRREZ

%18 S hkEREE R 17 2 B R AR R SR

Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* (“Tian Tu Capital”)® Interest in controlled corporation 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%

FNMREREEERDERAE KRESEAE 2 R

(TREKE]) O

Tiantu Investments International Limited® Beneficial owner 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%

KERERAEERAFY BEREBA

Mr. Zuo Lei Beneficial owner 511,025,000 (L) 10.91%

EZEE BEREBA

Notes: B 5T

(1 The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each party is (1) BE 2024 1283 B (BB MEEE UK
interested in (whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be HREBNERD IROMEBELEFEITR G QB (A
interested) as a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (i.e. 4,686,048,3818% f&17) BB D EEEtE ©
4,686,048,381 Shares) as at 31 December 2024.

2 51RENPIN.COM INC. is wholly owned by Shanghai Wuniu, which is in turn wholly 2) 51RENPIN.COM INC.HH L8B4 2&E#E » LiBE4EIH
owned by Hangzhou Jiahao. Further, contractual arrangements have been MINEFEEES © 14 > FUNIRS (BS1EHB-F (FED)
entered into between Hangzhou Zhenniu (a company wholly owned by 51 ERRAB2ERES > MZATHSIERARE2EER) HEi
Credit Card (China) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card) NEZHFEFTILENLHE > WANIRGFBEIZEFIMINEET ©
and Hangzhou lJiahao so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou Jiahao. REZFSNRBERGN LR RADINREAES
By virtue of the SFO, the above companies are deemed to be interested in 51RENPIN.COM INC.FRiF B ZE RN 2 #a © RIEED R
those Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM INC., respectively. Mr. Sun is a director of %A _EEIES ~ 51RENPIN.COM INC.&51EA K2 &S
each of Shanghai Wuniu, 51RENPIN.COM INC and 51 Credit Card.

3) 365,000,000 Shares are owned beneficially by Tiantu Investments International (3) 365,000,000 i1 H K B BREIEB R AR (—EHEXE
Limited, a company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital which is in turn owned as KREZEREZ AR BnES  MXERELRTLERE
to approximately 40.35% by Mr. Wang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Wang and Tian BHIL0.35% I - IRIEFT S REEGKRE > EhRERKE
Tu Capital are deemed to be interested in the 365,000,000 Shares held by KRERRARKREIRERIEERABPIFE 2 365,000,000
Tiantu Investments International Limited. R DR o

() (L) — Long Position. (4) L — A -

26 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2024, there was no person (not being a Director
or a chief executive of the Company) who had or was deemed to
have an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year and at the end of the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS PURCHASE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
material investments (2023: nil). The Group had no specific plan for
material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2024.

PR EXPRIREEE SN » BRI A > 1R20245 128
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BEmIRE -

BERMDIEFNLH

REREABERARFE @ ZRFRHEEFERA
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of material related party
transactions undertaken in the usual course of business of the
Group are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. However, these transactions were either exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, or did not
fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or controlling Shareholders
or any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
issued Shares was at all times held by the public during the year
and up to the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
report. The Company has maintained a sufficient public float in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 January 2025, the Board was informed that, (1) (i) 5TRENPIN.
COM INC., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of 51 Credit Card
and a direct shareholder of the Company, holding approximately
39.16% of the total issued Shares, and 51 Credit Card (collectively
as the "Vendors”), and (i) Qichen High-Tech Management
Consulting Ltd. and Shandong Qichen Zhongke Investment Holding
Co.,, Ltd* (LUERRIRPRIGEERBIRAE) (collectively as the
“Purchasers”) entered into a share sale and purchase agreement
(the “Share Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Vendors conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchasers
conditionally agreed to acquire 1,358,954,030 Shares held by
51RENPIN.COM INC., representing approximately 29.00% of total
issued Shares as of 24 January 2025; and (2) 51RENPIN.COM INC.
entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”)with
a placing agent, pursuant to which 51RENPIN.COM INC. agreed to
place through the placing agent up to a maximum of 476,009,183
Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM INC. (the “Placing Shares”),
representing approximately 10.16% of total issued Shares as of
24 January 2025, to individual, professional or institutional investors
(the “"Placees”). Upon completion of the Share Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the Placing Agreement and assuming that all
Placing Shares will be successfully placed, 5TRENPIN.COM INC. and
51 Credit Card will no longer be interested in any Shares. As at the
date of this report, completion of the Share Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the Placing Agreement have yet to take place.

To the best of the Board's knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiry, the Purchasers, the Placees
and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are/shall be (as the
case may be) independent of the Vendors and their controlling
shareholders, the Company and its subsidiaries, the shareholders
of the Company, and their ultimate beneficial owners, the
Purchasers/the Placees (as the case may be) and their ultimate
beneficial owners, or any of their respective associates, and are not
parties acting in concert (as defined in the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers) with the Vendors and their controlling shareholder,
the Company and its subsidiaries, shareholders of the Company,
and their ultimate beneficial owners, the Purchasers/the Placees
(as the case may be) and their ultimate beneficial owners, or any
of their respective associates.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 24 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant events
after the end of the period and up to the date of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 31
to 50 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. The Company did not change its auditor in the
preceding three years.

On 28 March 2025, the Board announced that Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”) would retire as the auditor of the
Company at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to be held on 26 June 2025. Upon the recommendation
of the Audit Committee, the Board proposed the appointment of
Loyal Honour CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company
effective immediately following the retirement of Baker Tilly at the
conclusion of the AGM, subject to the approval of Shareholders at
the AGM.

By order of the Board

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
Sun Haitao

Chairman and Executive Director

28 March 2025

* The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective
Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary to
support and complement its corporate governance efforts and
corporate image, and has gradually developed a corporate culture
emphasising on lawful, ethical and responsible business conduct
over the years, which has been reflected in the overall operations
and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-term
sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open
communication in the workplace and high ethical standards among
staff and management of the Group, the Group has established
anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, to provide guidance on
identifying relevant breaches or improper behaviour, reporting
procedures and consequences of violations of such policies. For
further details on the Group’s anti-corruption and whistle-blowing
policies, please see pages 84 to 86 of the ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had applied
and complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules except for the following:

CODE PROVISION C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Currently, Mr. Sun being the chairman of the Board, also serves as
the function of chief executive officer of the Company (the "CEQ")
which is deviated from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code
that the roles of chairman and the CEO are performed by the same
individual. The Board considers that Mr. Sun possesses the
essential leadership skills to manage the Board and extensive
knowledge in the business of the Group. In the opinion of the
Directors, through supervision by the Board and the independent
non-executive Directors, the same individual performing the roles of
chairman and the CEO can achieve the goal of improving the
Company'’s efficiency in decision making, execution and effectively
capturing business opportunities.
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The Board will review the effectiveness of this arrangement from
time to time. The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy of the CEO in order to comply with the CG
Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code Of Conduct”) which is on
terms no less exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings
against which issuers and their directors must measure their
conduct regarding transactions in securities of their issuers. The
Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and has not
been notified of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings and the Code Of Conduct by any of the Directors during
the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and up
to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

Ms. Liu Jia

Mr. Song Ke

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the

section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this report.
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The Board has implemented various mechanisms to ensure that
independent views are available to the Board, including: (1) having
three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDS”) representing
at least one-third of the Board; (2) ensuring ongoing liaison
between the Chairman and all INEDs through the company
secretary which allows continuous feedback is given and timely
consideration of any proposals; (3) making independent professional
advice available to Directors upon reasonable request under the
terms of reference of each of Committees of the Company; (4)
requirement for each INED to provide written confirmation annually
as to the factors affecting their independence provided under the
GEM Listing Rules; (5) in considering prospective INEDs candidates,
the Nomination Committee assesses independence of the
candidate(s) with reference to the relevant guidelines set out in the
GEM Listing Rules and other factors, including but not limited to
his/her character, integrity, cross-directorships and significant links
with other Directors, time commitment, professional qualifications
and relevant work experience; and (6) the Nomination Committee
shall review the structure, size and composition of the Board
regularly in relation to the Company's Board diversity policy
(“Board Diversity Policy”) and make proposals accordingly.

The Company conducts a regular review on the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms each year.
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The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance of the Group, considering and approving the overall
strategies and policies and approving the change of constitution of
the Board and the salary of INEDs of the Company. Additional
meetings are convened as and when the Board considers
necessary. The Directors attended those meetings in person, by
phone or through other electronic means of communication. The
attendance record of the meetings of the Directors during the year

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRS

ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

BT e CHESSOR (BEFEREERSHE
DR s MBRNMEREB B REER
IR ERNRHER LB BRI MBUER ML EEE
BEGERNBUIERITESNGMN - TEEER
AP EREEREINGE ESHE BOEFER
HMBEFBEASRALEZSZE - BUBESNEE
2024 F 12BN BILFEZ Gt Eaotr &l T

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERY EREESEYE
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

£x8 BRZEE FMESE RAZEE
EEAE 2f E ] E ] E ] BREAE
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Sun Haitao 4/4 — 7 7 7
HEELE
Ms. Wu Shan 4/4 — — — 1/1
Bzt
INEDS
BUHRITEE
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael 4/4 2/2 1M 1M 1M
Ms. Liu Jia 4/4 2/2 7 7 7
Eut
Mr. Song Ke 4/4 2/2 1M 1M 1M
R
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointment and supervision of management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management. Such arrangements are
reviewed by the Board to ensure they align with the Company’s
business needs annually.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael are
the INEDs. All of them are under a term of service of three years
commencing from the date of their respective appointments or the
date of entering into their respective letter of appointments. All
Directors, including the INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Articles,
provided that the appointment may be terminated by the Company
or the Director concerned with a written notice pursuant to their
respective service contracts and letter of appointments.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board.
All of them are free to exercise their independent judgement
during the vyear. The Company has received annual written
confirmations from the INEDs in respect of their independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers the INEDs to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year, and the
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities.
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Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous
professional development during the year are set out below:

BUEENFAESAZFAEATEXEREIFE
M-

Scope of Training

153 EE S

Legal and

Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
EELTE EERE EEMEEEN EBEMN EEER
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. Sun Yes Yes Yes Yes
e Sk =l B B =l
Ms. Wu Shan Yes Yes Yes Yes
S &+ =l =5 =l =l
INEDS
BUIHPTESE
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael Yes Yes Yes Yes
RESKE =] = =] =]
Ms. Liu Jia Yes Yes Yes Yes
BELT =l a = =l
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
RS =l =5 =l =l
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FRERITERARR

Currently, Mr. Sun takes up the role of chairman and serves as the
function of chief executive of the Company, which is deviated from
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. For further details, please
refer to the section headed “CODE PROVISION C.2.1" of this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively, the
"Board Committees”) in order to maintain a high level of
corporate governance standard of the Company.

Bl BREEEREEREERE » RRTMEETER
e BT EXRERTAZTRIEXEC21
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yu Tat Chi
Michael, with Mr. Song Ke and Ms. Liu Jia as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
and assessing their independence and performance; review the
Group's financial information and compliance; and review the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.

Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year:

—  reviewed the audited consolidated financial statement, annual
results announcement and the annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2023;

—  reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2024;

— reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems, and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function,

— made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the auditor of the Company; and

— discussed with the auditor of the Company the audit matters
before the commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year. Individual
attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are
set out on page 34 of this report.
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The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities. These
committees are required by their terms of reference to report to
the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board's approval before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on
an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to each of the Board
committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration payable in
respect of the audit and non-audit services rendered by the auditor
of the Company are as follows:

EXZECCHRNERENERNNBEZERE
HEsE - BEREREAXTEEGNERE &
RAEBREROEFTRS  UEETRERR
T ERREATHNSKERTEZME - ERS
BERNEFENSREFEZETIMARE » LUE
RZEEEACTBLEBH A EEER G

Z A =

HE2024F12B31H IEFE » AR B ZE AR
B NIEBTRBEMS ZMSWOT ¢

Approximate

Type of services amount
AR 7555 B4 =28
(HK$'000)
(&)
Audit services BT AR 850
Non-audit services JEE RS 250

NATURE OF NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024 include reviews of the
Company's annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2023 and unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group. In preparing such financial statements, it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of the Company
about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the section headed “INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S REPORT" of this report on pages 97 to 104.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Nomination Committee is
chaired by Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, with Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
as members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually,
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning of
the Board.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of
the Board, and the Board Diversity Policy;

— reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for
directorship during the year;

— assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

— made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
Individual attendance records of each member of the Nomination
Committee are set out on page 34 of this report.
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Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”).

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations from
Board members, management and professional search firms. In
addition, the Nomination Committee will consider director
candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders. All director
candidates are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon
the director’s qualifications ability to devote sufficient time to the
Company’s affairs, and relevant experience, as stated in the
Nomination Policy. While director candidates will be evaluated on
the same criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion
to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary
based on the composition, skill sets and experiences of the
collective Board rather than on the individual candidate. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for
selection and appointment of new Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance quality of its performance. The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates for members of the Board
will be based on a number of objective criteria, including but not
limited to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender, and will take into full consideration
of the Company’s business scale and specific requirements from
time to time. Currently, members of the Board have different
business and professional backgrounds, and among all five
members of the Board, two are female. Given the current
composition of the Board, the Nomination Committee is of the view
that gender diversity is achieved and shall focus on maintaining the
gender balance. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
supervising the implementation of this policy and reviewing it, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

At present, the Nomination Committee considers that the Board is
sufficiently diverse and will review the Board Diversity Policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness and recommend the same to
the Board for approval.

The Board and Nomination Committee have reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy during the year to ensure its effectiveness and
resolved that the diversity in the current Board composition was in
the interest of the Company.

For the details of the current gender ratio in the workforce,
including senior management of the Group, please see page 71 of
the ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT in this
report. Given the current composition of the workforce, the Board
is of the view that gender diversity is achieved and shall focus on
maintaining the gender balance. The management will review the
gender composition of the workforce and set targets based on the
future needs of the Group’s development.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael
as members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration;,
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
which include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group; and to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

—  reviewed the remuneration of the Directors;

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors;

— assessed performance of the executive Directors and approve
the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts; and

— reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors,
INEDs and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Individual attendance records of each
member of the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 34 of
this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible
for the corporate governance duties. Pursuant to the code
provision of A.2.1 of the CG Code, such duties include but are not
limited to:

— developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

— reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

—  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

— developing, reviewing and monitoring the Code Of Conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

— reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed
and performed the above mentioned corporate governance
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group’s pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board's responsibility to evaluate and determine the
nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The Board
acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework for
effective risk management and follows The Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO")
Internal Control — Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are,
however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of the
inside information in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board had performed an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems relating
to financial, operational and compliance controls for the vyear
ended 31 December 2024. Also, the Board and Audit Committee
had received and considered the evaluations from internal control
department of the Group, the major risks detected through the
systems and discussed the needs for further improvement. The
Board was of the view that throughout the year ended
31 December 2024, the financial reporting system and the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group were
adequate and effective.
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The Board’s annual review for the year ended 31 December 2024
also assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions and ESG
performance and reporting. For this aspect, the Board was
satisfactory. The Board was also not aware of any material internal
control failings or weaknesses.

Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group’s official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation of
risks.

The First Line of Defence — Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional
departments responsible for the day-to-day operation and
management of the Group. They are the risk owners that
constantly encounter risks during their operation and mitigate them
by following the Group’s policies and procedures. Risk owners are
also responsible for designing and implementing internal controls
related to their risks.

The Second Line of Defence — Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible
for supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of
internal controls.

The Third Line of Defence — Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group’s internal
audit team which performs regular internal audit. The internal audit
team is highly independent and reports to both the Board and the
Audit Committee directly. The primary task is to perform
independent evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditor and other
regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to further
strengthen the Group’s governance and controls.
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During the year, the Board had re-assessed the risks faced by the
Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is a
summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the
applicable risk mitigation responses.

46

Market Competition Risk

The Group’s businesses face fierce market competition.
China’s technology industry is very dynamic and highly
competitive. To ensure continual growth, the Group must
constantly remain innovative, assess changing consumers’
needs and provide in-demand services over its competitors.
There is the risk that the Group is unable to maintain its edge
and lose its market share. The Group has mitigated this risk
by carrying out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and
also by monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely
react to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion
to product innovation and marketing enables the Group to
meet customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.

Government Policies and Regulations Risk

The Group’s smart retail business belongs to industries that
are highly regulated by the PRC government. Participants in
these industries have to adhere to strict regulations. As these
industries grow and the regulatory landscape keeps on
evolving, the PRC government often promulgates new
measures and restrictions with which all participants have to
cope. Failure to comply with these rules and regulations will
lead to serious consequences including possibility of business
termination. To mitigate this risk, the Group has maintained a
strong team of lawyers to ensure the full compliance of laws
and regulations. The Group also fosters close communication
with the PRC government and remains vigilant in the latest
regulatory updates.
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3. Information Security Risk

The Group's smart retail business serves the mass population
and hence collects many user’s confidential information and
sensitive data. These data and information must be
well-secured and protected from theft, leakage and damage.
Failure to do so will cause the Group to impair its reputation,
lose businesses and even be prosecuted. The Group places a
strong emphasis on information security and has a team of
information security experts. A series of measures is
implemented to ensure customers’ data is secured, including
regular testing of the Group's data system to eliminate any
breaching loopholes, implementing content segregation and
access authorization controls for sensitive data.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
Control — Integrated Framework in implementing its internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, and
standardized workflow procedures designed to help the Group to
achieve its business objectives, protect its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's internal audit
team has carried out independent internal audit activities on the
Group’s major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed and monitored the Group's internal audit function
and consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tsang Sin Man is the company secretary of the Company.
Ms. Tsang Sin Man graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a bachelor's degree in accountancy and has over
seven years of accounting and audit experience. She is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Tsang Sin Man took no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required by
the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING (“EGM")

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and disclosure of information to the Shareholders.
The Company delivers interim and annual reports upon
Shareholders’ request and publication of the interim and annual
results announcements and other required disclosures of
information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Ccompany to all the Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two-way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at 8071IR@u51.com or by mail to the address of
the Company’'s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office
2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.
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The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed of the details of the AGM and EGM. Board members
will be available to answer questions raised by Shareholders in a
prompt manner at the aforesaid meetings. Pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules, voting by poll is mandatory at all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of the
AGM and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the AGM and EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or propose a resolution
for consideration at general meetings may convene an EGM in
accordance with the procedures set out in the section headed
“PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM")" above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to the
Shareholders and public investors.

The Company regularly updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual and interim reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

The Company welcomes any views Shareholders may have
regarding the Group’s affairs. As outlined above, these may be
raised during the general meetings of the Company, or
alternatively, or send electronically or physically to the email
address or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
stated above.
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The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy — ZAATHIET IR ERBAB R BEH KA AT 4TS > 5]
which sets out the policies in relation to communication with the BAERIERREENEE > LHESS TR -
Shareholders. Such policy which is published on the website of the — LUIFERE BT o

Company shall be reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to

ensure its effectiveness.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s shareholder BESZEZEHZE2024E1283MHLEEERBTE TEAA
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2024  BIMIRRERBEER » ERERNWEINREZEEH
and is satisfied with its current implementation and effectiveness MEFRENME > EEZSHEBRNERTNEN
based on written enquiries received from the Shareholder and MHREIHE ©

questions raised by them during the year.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Report Profile

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG
Report” or "Report”) summarises the environmental, social and
governance initiatives, plans and performance of China Netcom
Technology Holdings Limited (the “"Company”, the “Group” or “we")
and demonstrates our commitment to sustainable development.
The Group insists on sustainable development in accordance with
the ESG management principles, which the Company can
continuously create value for the stakeholders and handle the
Group’'s ESG matters effectively and responsibly as a core part of
our business strategy as we believe this is the key to our
continued success in the future.

Reporting Period
The ESG Report details the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Reporting Period").

Reporting Scope

The ESG Report contains information that is material which allows
the readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and
performance in its daily operations in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. The scope of the ESG Report covers all subsidiaries listed in
the financial statements during the Reporting Period, consistent
with the Group’s annual report.
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Reporting Framework

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), and
complies with all “Mandatory Disclosure Requirements” and
“Comply or Explain” provisions, as well as the reporting principles
of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In preparing
the ESG Report, the Group has adopted the international standards
and the emission factors specified in the guidance materials on
ESG issued by the Stock Exchange for computing the relevant key
performance indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change from
previous year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared. The
application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
"Materiality Assessment” of this ESG Report.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the reporting principles
in the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange: “"Materiality”,
“Quantitative”, "Balance” and “Consistency”.

Materiality: During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted a
materiality assessment to identify material issues to determine the
material issues as the focus of the preparation of the ESG Report.
The materiality of these issues was reviewed and confirmed by the
ESG Committee. For more details, please refer to the sections
headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative: Quantitative data disclosed in the ESG Report are
supplemented with additional explanations to explain any
standards, methodologies and sources of conversion factors used
in the calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

Balance: This Report aims to provide a comprehensive and fair
view of the Group's sustainability performance and has not omitted
any information related to material ESG topics.

Consistency: The preparation method of this ESG Report is
basically consistent with that of the previous year, and
explanations have been provided for the data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methods.
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Source of Data and Responsibility Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report is from the Group's
internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public materials.
The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not contain any
false information, misleading statement or material omission, and
takes responsibility for the contents hereof as to the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements, which are based
on the Group’s current expectations, estimates, projections, views
and assumptions about the businesses and markets in which it and
its subsidiaries operate. These forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to market risks,
uncertainties and factors beyond the Group’s control. Therefore,
actual results and returns may differ materially from the
assumptions and statements contained in this report.

Contact Us

The Group attaches great importance to readers’ valuable opinions.
Should you have any questions or suggestions about the ESG
Report, please contact the Group via:

E-mail: 8071IR@u51.com
Address: Office 2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong

IR BREREEEH

B B RERRENENERRE S EER
SO ~ BRET RS R AR o AEMARE
5 B REARETFEEAARRER R8N
BESEEARR UREABNERN - R
RFEBURHEET -

A B 1 Rt

RIS SHRMERL 0 EDERAEREHENE
B ARKENEFNHISBHNERTEM - (&5~ &
A~ BIENMIRR - BLRIBIERIT X RKRER
BIEREE > WRTIHEAR - THREMEMAEREAE
IR R E - Eit > BEGER LB AR
WEFMHRRNMRABEREE -

Bk R 3 A
FEESEEREENEEER M B THIR
B HENERRS A EARESNER  FEBMU
THAMBARER :

B I : 8071IR@U51.com
ik - BHAEEESITE I E T E241B2401AZE

PEABZERERATE » 2024 FERS 53



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIR

ESG Governance Structure
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B4 ~

[Board
-
e Evaluate ESG-related risks and opportunities
o SHMEIRIR A B R EAERA R B
« Establish ESG management policies, strategies, priorities and targets
o BIEIRIR B REABIEA T R BA R ER
* Regularly review ESG-related targets
o EHRETIRIE 1t G R EVAMERRE R
» Approve information disclosed in the ESG Report
o EHIRR B NERRENNVIREER
. Oversee all ESG-related matters
k. EEIRR e NEAEREER

[ ESG Working Group

B -HaREATEME

« Collect and analyse ESG data and evaluate the effectiveness of policies and procedures
o NG DITIRIE M B X BABUR M THEBER A2 B 3%
e Ensure the implementation of the plan to achieve ESG targets
o FEREHBIWIELUZRIRIR B REAEE

* Ensure compliance with ESG related laws and regulations

o FERETIRIE - B R EAERDE AR

* Assist in the preparation of the annual ESG report

o BENREIFEEIRE B REARE

* Report to the Board on all ESG-related matters

k c MEEGERRE HBREAERMEEE

N

-

Business Departments and Functional Departments
BT EBPIFNEHESRFT

o IRIRF B RORIBRE B M STAAENRAER T
* Regularly collect, organise and report relevant information
. iﬂﬁﬂ&%\%fiﬁiiﬁﬁ%ﬁ:ﬁ%ﬂ

o RESEIRER IR TIEE RISV TENRBETERES
» Undertake the responsibility of internal information transmission
o RIEBAIEAFENFIE

N

* Complete relevant work within the functions in accordance with the direction of the ESG Committee

 Provide feedback on the actual work situation in a timely manner and make relevant suggestions on the actual work

—
5d h

Board Statement

The Board of China Netcom attaches great importance to ESG
matters and follows the requirements of the ESG Reporting Guide
of the Stock Exchange. As the highest responsible and
decision-making body for such matters, the Board actively
participates in and formulates relevant policies and strategies to
ensure that an appropriate and effective ESG risk management
system is established within the Company. The Board regularly
reviews the assessment results of material issues and the report
for the year, and actively promotes the integration of ESG matters
into all aspects of the Company’s operations. We will continuously
strengthen the governance system, strengthen the construction of
internal control, enhance the ability of risk prevention, truly protect
the interests of shareholders and investors, provide a solid
guarantee for the steady development of the Company and
effectively manage ESG matters.
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The Group believes that effective management of ESG issues is
essential to long-term success and will insist on a comprehensive
understanding of ESG risks and opportunities to improve the
efficiency of resource allocation, reduce and recycle various types
of waste and cooperate with regulatory authorities to ensure that
waste is treated to the highest standards. As part of the business
decision-making process, the Group encourages all relevant
stakeholders to participate in ESG management to achieve
long-term success and ensure the sustainable development of the
Group.

ESG Working Group

The Group has established an ESG governance structure, and the
Board has overall responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG
risks and opportunities, establishing the Group’s ESG strategies and
targets, including setting KPIs for environmental-related matters and
setting higher standards for energy saving measures and waste
treatment. Each year, the Group reviews its performance against its
ESG goals. If significant differences are identified when compared
with these goals, the Group will appropriately revise its ESG
strategies to create a sustainable business and provide greater
benefits to society as a whole. The ESG Working Group has been
established and comprises core members from different
departments, which aims to assist the Board in overseeing ESG
matters. The business departments and functional departments will
complete the relevant work within their functions in accordance
with the direction of the ESG Team.
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fEe
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Stakeholder Engagement FinEBER

The Group places great emphasis on the issues that are important ZAEEIEEEREFNE » QEBRERELK
to the stakeholders, including but not limited to customers and B8 > UNIEBFEBMEWEEENEE c &5
employees, as well as non-governmental organisations. The Group EEBSREEEE » UTHRNEZDEER B
is actively seeking every opportunity to understand and engage the {RPINEEMMIRTE o« KEBFEHMHEHERTS
stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the products and EBEENINMSEEETEAM o

services can be implemented. The Group strongly believes that the

stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of the

business.
Major stakeholders Engagement channels
FTEHME 2 HERE
Shareholders and investors J Annual general meetings
REMEESE J BRERBEFRE
o Financial reports
J MBS
o Announcements and circulars
o N PNE IS
o Company website
J NE) MGk
Customers J Customer service hotline
by S J BB R
o Customer complaint mechanism
J ES SR il
o Social media
o RS
o Satisfaction questionnaires
J WEERSE
Employees o Trainings, seminars and presentations
BT J Bl A g RS

o Performance review

J FER D

o Employee complaint mechanism
o BTkl

o Internal communication

J A &R BB
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Major stakeholders
FEHGE

Engagement channels
2HRE

Suppliers
e

Community and non-governmental organisations
& X JEBUAT AR 48

Media and the public
RN AR

Government and regulators
B & EEEHE

Materiality Assessment

Supplier assessment meetings
HEMETEEE

Supplier review

HEmEIX

Tender

BIREE

Regular communication
EHBE

community activities
& EE

Volunteer activities
ELEE

Sponsors and donations
BB 1B G

ESG reports

RIE - HEaNERRS
Company website
NEIHGuk

Social media platforms
HREBFE

Written or electronic communications
EEmNEFBEE

Regular performance reporting
TEHAE IR R

Information disclosure

BEERE

EET(S

The Group has identified ESG issues that have potential or actual
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources. After
considering a series of factors, including the Group’s overall
strategy, development and goals, internal policies and industry
trends, the Group completed a materiality survey to solicit
stakeholders’ opinions on our ESG material issues, the results of
which are presented below.

AEBECHNKESEREHHEIKEEREE
ARNEBEERZENRE HERELRER 2L —
ZIAR > BREAEENEERE ERKER
WBEPER ~ ITRBBR > ARETR T —HEEMN
BB BRI BEHRMIRE - HERELAEER
BHER ERETAT -
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The chart below summarises the results of the materiality ‘Fi‘é%@%ﬁE%ﬁ%EUE’\Jlﬁiﬁ~?i‘§5§z§/§é$ﬁ%&ﬁ%

assessment of the identified ESG issues: B RS

Materiality Matrix
EEMNER

3. Prot_ection of Natural

High 4

=]

9. Business Ethi
and Integrity
[GESEEELE
15. Sustainable
Development Strategy
AIFHE R

Significance to stakeholders

LT 13. Anti-corruption
R k&=
k2
o )
% 10. Protection of Intellectual t\
Property Rights
& 11 Diversity and Equality %Egéggr;éég% o Supply
SN TERGE — — o
14. Community Investment \
HBRE o~ -
\ 7. Employee Training and Development
BTEIMEE
Low Significance to the Company'’s business High
1 HAREBNTE =8
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A. ENVIRONMENT

A sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. The Group believes that
sustainable development is not only an ethical obligation, but
also a gateway to business success. Therefore, the Group
prioritises environmental protection, formulates a series of
environmental protection policies and measures, and
incorporates them into its business strategy and
decision-making process, in order to reduce any undesirable
impact on the environment and continue to contribute to
sustainable development.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
and did not violate the relevant environmental laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on it, including but
not limited to the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection ({#E A R M EIBIER#E X)) and
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Water Pollution
Prevention and Control ((FR#EAREMEBEACTLEEAEED) in
Mainland China and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Environmental Targets

During the Reporting Period, the Group has basically achieved the
goals set in 2023, successfully reducing water usage, electricity
consumption, waste emissions, and greenhouse gas emissions to
within the established targets. To continue implementing the
transition to a green, low-carbon economy in the Company's daily
operations and management policies, and to contribute to global
efforts against climate change, the Group is committed to achieving
"carbon peak before 2030 and carbon neutrality before 2060." The
Group will also evaluate the effectiveness of strategies and
measures aimed at mitigating climate change impacts. To this end,
environmental targets have been set at various levels, as outlined
below:

IRIT
AHBERNRRECER T ERIEEN
B o xEERR > AIREBEERIERE—2
EREFERXBRIINNEE - Flt » A&
ERIRIEREERE N HIE T —RIIRIE
REBURMIENE > W7i§ HAAA R B BBEAR
RBREF > BRABHIRIZEREFNEEF
B THEESFREERFHER -

REBEHE > c2EEEERETIEERIBE
REEBEEATENFIEERIRFRERNE
R BEERRRPEREN(FEARH
MBEIRIFREE) R(FEARAME AR
BiRE) U & BB E 354 B (B R B %
B

RIEER

REREHA > FEBELEREM2023F R
YHER BAK BT BEEYHBRUK
BERBHFRNERREERENEERN -
=T RS eEREEBENS REEER0E
BEERTNABEEUREERS#HF > A
BMERBHRIEE (MBS BRER
2030 RIRRIELE ~ 2060 F FIBK R > ALAE
HIEEBRE R IR ER RN
BN REEREBSRE TREBER
WMTXFAR -
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The target is to reduce intensity by 2030, with 2023 as the base B 122 EI2030F 4R EPEE - U2023FAE
year: AEE

Target by 2030

Aspect 2023 (base year) (compared to base year) Result

[EE 2023 (B# ) 2030 B1E (B EEFLILR) &R

Electricity consumption REERE 1l 5% 260.80

intensity Target met 42
kwh/employee FREET

Water consumption intensity FR/KE38E L 5% 3.96
ms3/employee UAKEE Target met ZE4Z
Greenhouse gas emission  EAEREEHEMGRE L 5% 0.10

intensity Target met Z£4Z
tCO,e/employee —HtREE BT

These goals are set to guide the Group’s business strategy. The FERREZERIE » AEBERRIKIZMISS| o &2
steps taken to achieve these goals are detailed below. S L B2 IRENY & BR > HE 7 T CGESY ©

A1. Emissions A1. B Y
Exhaust Emission EFSTHEM
Due to the nature of the Group's core business i AEERLOERIFNME » 51
activities, it does not own or control any stationary ﬁ%ﬁ—mw%ﬂﬂjﬁﬁggwﬂﬁ%
sources or mobile sources that involve direct fuel WEEBERAEE » 2O S%EnRe
consumption; therefore, it does not have any air oh It AT ] EE S HE R o

emissions during the course of its daily operations.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group continues to carry out greenhouse gas
inventory and verification, and the scope of the
inventory includes direct greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 1) and indirect greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 2). Considering the business characteristics of
the Group, the Group's daily operations do not involve
the significant use of vehicles or fuels, so direct
greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) are not involved.
The main concern is indirect greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 2). Due to indirect emissions from purchased
electricity externally, the Group realises that the
selection and use of energy has a great impact on
greenhouse gas emissions, and therefore strives to find
measures such as renewable energy and energy
efficiency improvement to reduce indirect emissions
and enhance sustainability. As the Group's office
located in Hangzhou relocated to a new office during
the year, and the office area has reduced as compared
to the previous year, energy consumption and
greenhouse gas emissions decreased accordingly.

Details of greenhouse gas emissions during the
Reporting Period are set out in the table below:

BEREHK
EEFEHRAERREETERETL
B BERECEEREEREBIN
(BE-) BEAEREHR (EE
D) EREAEENEF R £E
HEEET NI RAEEANEIM
o Bt EEREREI N (EE—)
WA - TBRENEEREERE
B (E@E D) - mRIEINBREES
MmELHBZIN - REEHEIERN
EENTERHAERBHRNEEE
X Bt &S SR BERRMEEN
CRHEEIEE - LURD R HFIL IR T+ 7]
FHEM - BIRAEBURTUNBIRAE
RESERBEFMAE > WAZEEER
EFRD > RtERBFEEEREEHF
TRRBE 2 [ 1K o

N

[i:3

FEREHR  BERBIFGEHBEHNT
e

Indicator’ Unit 2024 2023
FE1R" B (i 20245 20234
Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) tCOe 0 0
ERAERBEHR (BE) WA rikEE
Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2)  tCO,e 1.22 35.93
BEREREEIR (BED) WA rikEE
Total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 & tCOe 1.22 35.93
Scope 2)
RERBHNES (HE—&HBED) M_SRES
Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions tCO,e/employee? 0.10 1.71

BERBHREE

MR SLEE BT
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Notes:

1. Greenhouse gas emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide
equivalent with reference to, including but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development,
“"How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIS” issued by the Hong Kong
Exchange, the Announcement on Carbon Dioxide Emission
Factors for Electricity in 2022 issued by the Ministry of Ecology
and Environment of the People’s Republic of China in December
2024, and the "Sustainability Report 2023" of Hong Kong Electric
Investments.

2. As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the total
number of employees of the Group was 12 and 21 respectively.
This data is also used for calculating other intensity data.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste

Due to the Group’'s business nature, no hazardous
waste was generated during the Reporting Period and
hence no specific target was set. Nevertheless, we will
remain vigilant and ensure that our business activities
have no negative impact on the environment. If any
hazardous waste is found, the Group will actively
engage qualified recyclers to recycle and dispose of the
waste, thereby minimising the impact on the
surrounding environment.

Non-hazardous waste

Office general refuse including disposal of wastepaper,
and packaging of other general food and beverage cans
and bottles are the main source of non-hazardous
waste, which are handled properly on a daily basis to
maintain hygiene in workplace. The said waste is
minimal in quantity and therefore no relevant data is
collected and no specific target was set. Nevertheless,
the Group advocates the concept of a green and
sustainable working environment and adopts the “4R”
principle — reduce, reuse, recycle and recover, to
minimise the generation of wastes.

FEE -

1. BERBHRBEEDNR_ALCLREESR
5] WS RBEEEF RN ERE R IR
LERTHEXEIHESSTENCR
ERBRBRTREE  CXREHEBRER
) ~ EBRZFREMB (NAEFRE
HERERARE — MR RIBERMARE
RIERERISS)) ~ PEARKMEERS
IR EREE M 2024 FF 12 B B4 RN 2022 FF B/
ZAMHBIRRTFAS  MABEEIRKRE
BQOBERHBERRE) ©

2. HZE2024%F12831H &2023E 12831
A AEENETRAEDRIB12A K21
Ao hBIETEBEEEMBESIE -

BYEE

BEEBEEY

RIEARERBPYEFHME  FREP[L
REEEMBEEY > AT RRER
EERR - BEWILL - IR RE
L% TRERREBLISHHIREREERE
& - ARREMABESEY 5B
RIBES 58 & 48 By [ UL B 1T BE (el IR
MERE » URARRERDHEEIRERN
245 o

e

BEBEY

MAER ARG » BFERE R A E th
—REMBEEERHAENRE > BE
SEEVNIZNRR > ZFERYEX
EXERELERS TIFEFINEE -
LitEEEMERY - FItIE SR
FE2EEMBRRTE - BEUL
FrEBEEREBLAFETFRIEE
20 WA TARIRA) GRD ~ BFA
BIRKOW) UBERVBERYNESE -
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A2. Use of Resources A2. BR{ER

Energy Management BEREE

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-term REAJFEEZRAEERAZENE
development of the Group. The Group is committed to o REBBNOFIFEERE > WEHNHE
sustainable development and strives to minimise waste ERVERRE - THREEZAES
of resources. In the course of daily operations, the AEBFEERNEIAE » BBFEIE
Group emphasises the effective use of resources by (RS HERE ~ KIAESRIRA]) » BIR
establishing the “Smart Use of Electricity, Water and BB MEECNER » £—Fi2
Paper Rules,” which enables more refined and AERFMARE - AfgEiAERIEY
intelligent management and further enhances resource S &

utilisation efficiency. Specific electricity saving measures
are as follows:

. Turn off air-conditioners and lights during o RARRIEM A BRI N, E B E R
non-office hours and/or in idle rooms; B ZE AR ;

. Turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce . RARA T ARV IREA R B 238 » LUM%
energy consumption; RBERBEFE ;

. Regularly maintain office equipment such as . TEHAMEE IR ~ BB
air-conditioners, computers, lights, etc.; and UNS'3 =N

. Educate employees on energy saving. . HIEEEITEHEHS o

As the Group's office located in Hangzhou relocated to HERAEBRURTNEBAERS

a new office during the year, and the office area has BEEFNMWAE > MAEBERREEH

reduced as compared to the previous year, electricity Do LB EBRNE Z FFIE o

usage decreased accordingly.

PEABZERERATE » 2024 FERS 63



64

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIG - B REREBS

The Group’s energy consumption performance is
summarised as follows:

AEEBBERBRRFEMLNT

Energy type Unit 2024 2023
AERTESE B I 20245 20234
Direct energy consumption kwh 0 0
BiEEREFE FRBF

Indirect energy consumption

MR EERHAE

e Purchased electricity kwh 3,130.00 62,726.84
o SNEEEES] TRE

Total energy consumption kwh 3,130.00 62,726.84
BERAHER TRE

Total energy consumption intensity kwh/employee? 260.80 2,986.99
BERAEHERE FRE §I2

Water Management

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing water
and the existing water supply meets its daily operation
needs. Water consumption by the Group is minimal,
which is mainly used for basic cleaning and sanitation.
In order to reduce water wastage, the Group actively
promotes the awareness of water conservation among
the employees and comprehensively improves water
efficiency. The Group has implemented the following
water conservation measures:

o Rectify water leakage problems of water pipes,
faucets, toilets and other equipment in the office
in a timely manner to avoid unnecessary water
loss.

HKEE

255 [ 0 SR EUK R 75 E RV I 78
BRFEKEEEREHAEEERE -
FEBKERBFEBD » TBARER
BREREE « BEVNORE » AEEE
BIEERENEKER > 2EIESAKX
Man © BT B R AEK

5

o KEFEBERAERRIKE KB
RYFRERBIRKEE &
RAGERKERK o
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Raise employees’ awareness of water conservation
through internal promotion and training, and
encourage them to adopt water conservation
measures in their daily work.

Reasonably use water source equipment and make
full use of its capacity to reduce unnecessary
water consumption.

As the Group's office located in Hangzhou relocated to
a new office during the year, and the office area has
reduced as compared to the previous year, water usage
decreased accordingly.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’'s water
consumption was as follows:

s  EBREEMEMNEN - REETL
HE AR ER > BithfIE
H & TEREREEIK B

o REMAKERE > ZOMAH
BE BV UERAK -

ARASEEURTAMBPARERS
BBEMMAE » MAEERREFR
Do I AKERREE Z FE 1K -

RSB > 2EEAKENT

Indicator Unit 2024 2023
1G1E B (i 20244 20234
Water consumption? m3 443.84 739.73
=W/ S=E Ik

Water consumption intensity mé/employee? 3.96 35.22

BKkERE

Note:

58

For the Hong Kong office in Admiralty, the relevant water
consumption fee is included in the management fee, therefore
the disclosed data does not include the water consumption of
the Hong Kong office.

Packaging Materials

Since the Group’s core business activities do not
involve the use of packaging materials, no data in this
regard is available.

UK MEE?

GER

3. PR EENEBRAEMS - HABRK
BEBRESEEEERN  WNBERET
BESERAEHKEFE

BEMH
HRAEEZOET DL AL RE
ResmE I EED Ay
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A3. Environment and Natural Resources

The principal activity of the Group is smart retail
business. Even though the business has a relatively
small impact on the environment, environmental
protection is still the responsibility and commitment of
the Group. We firmly believe that sustainable
development is inseparable from environmental
protection and integrate environmental awareness into
daily business decision-making and operation processes.
Through internal training and awareness raising
activities, we strengthen employees’ understanding of
environmental protection and encourage employees to
take environmental protection actions in their work and
life. The Group is committed to continuing its efforts to
move forward on the path of sustainable development
and working with stakeholders to promote the goals of
environmental protection and sustainable development.

A3. IRIERKAER

FEENTIEXFRERTEXS
BIERFB RIS EEE ) » BIR
RRENAREENSEMN A &M
B IRNBEZERAREREEZSY
7 WIHIRFREHBA B ERNEB AR
MESBRESD  BEABEIINEHE
FHEE) > M58 E THIRIBRERISDH
SR8 T TFEMAEREPRIURRT
8 - EEAGERSEES NERRERE
ROERE EAERRTTT o AR SHARRRE H
EESIRIZRERAFEERNER -
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A4. Climate Change

The public awareness of climate change is rising, and
climate change is also one of the most frequently
discussed issues in the world. Given the severity and
urgency of the climate crisis, governments have
recently accelerated their response to climate change.
The Group reviews and identifies climate-related risks
annually while conducting risk assessment. These
include physical risks (e.g. extreme weather conditions)
and ftransition risks (e.g. regulatory changes in
environmental matters) and are summarised as follows:

Ad. JiIzE1L
NEHRESNER TGRS > /iE
g2 ERE B RS EN
— o B RIEGEINBREMATEY
B BTN T R R IE S
H 1 o REMIERTARTEH R -
SEBTWHA EFEEEAR o HH
BEREER BINERKRBER &
EERR (BB ETNEEEY)
A ABAET

Risk type Risks and potential financial impacts Mitigation strategy

[ B 48 7)) JE B DA B2 T 7E B B 75 7 28 ol

Physical risks e Extreme weather conditions, such as e  Locate offices in top-tier cities
increased frequency of flooding and e Apply extreme weather warnings
typhoon, may cause damage to the and regularly inspect operating
Company’s equipment and increase equipment
operating costs Establish adverse weather
Extreme weather also causes disasters, condition policy
which may threaten personal safety Adopt energy conservation
and increase insurance costs measures
Cooler or warmer temperatures may
lead to increased use of air
conditioning or heating, resulting in
higher costs

BRREE Tim R RGN > WK B R EIER M AERE— AR

W0 PIREER AR RMEEE  BEM
1B

BinRRERSIERE  AIEEHATR
EEMEE R IE A
RRETNEERGTERHCRANER
ROVEREBM > EEN A LF

WIF B RRIRE » EHMHEBEERE
ETRE
HEBLRRABREHBR
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[ bR 58 R

Risks and potential financial impacts
JBL B A R BT Y B 5 7 28
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Mitigation strategy
4% R R B

Transition risks

The policy system of “Carbon Peaking e
and Carbon Neutrality” issued by the
State Council has been gradually
improved, and enterprises have higher
requirements for green development

The national policy requires the
collection of environmental protection- e

Continue to monitor the regulatory
environment to ensure that the
Group meets the expectations of
regulatory authority and complies
with the environmental-related laws
and regulations.

Combine the Group's business

related taxes

e The market prefers environmentally

friendly enterprises more

ERE R .
HEZR TS

=

=

o BIRBERZREUORFBEHRE
s MWEEMREIRERESENESR

SOCIAL

The Group’s success is inseparable from a strong team
composed of committed, responsible, and innovative talents.
In order to create a harmonious working environment, it is
committed to providing different training opportunities for all
employees to attract, motivate and retain talents. It is
believed that by developing employees’ skills and knowledge,
they will be able to better cope with challenges and
opportunities and make outstanding contributions to the
sustainable development of the Group. We attach great
importance to the development and welfare of employees
and provide competitive compensation and benefits and good
career development paths to build an attractive working
environment and attract and retain the best talents.

philosophy with the “Action Plan for
Carbon Peaking by 2030" ({20304
BIBRGEIZ1TENH Z2)) issued by the
State, and continuously improve the
“dual carbon” work constraint
mechanism.

BB MR TRGEER PN PIEERE « EEEREEIRE  URRAEET
s EERMRBEREKRE

GEERERRTIETRIRIZEERN
EREMR

s REENESESMREREMN
(2030 BB E 1B 1T 8N 75 Z) 1BAS
G TEISTE T TIFAURIES -

=

AEENRIBETH—<HEH BEHE
BRIFENRAS BB ARERK - KT E
EMENTIFRE  RAONRAFMEEIRM
AREBEINES - RS BB EA
7 o RERBEE ST AREENMEH - {thf
A RESO BT R W BN RIS » W REEDY
RELZRMHEUER - HAERETNE
EMEHN  RHEERFHNFMEFNNR
FRBRERREE MBI —EER3INIH
TRIRIE » IS EEREBFHIAL ©
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As a responsible employer, the Group has complied with and
did not violate the laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on all relevant employees, including but not
limited to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
((hE AR MBS E5E)), the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({(P#EARIMEALSNEEE))
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production
Safety ((FRZEARHEMEL 24 EJE)) in Mainland China and
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter
282 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

B1. Employment

Employment Practices

The Group has formulated internal policies in
accordance with relevant labour laws and regulations,
covering areas such as compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other
benefits and welfare, employment development and
training, and child and forced labour. To ensure that
employees clearly and consistently understand and
implement the Group’s key policies, we have formulated
an "Employee Handbook”, which details the rights of
employees, such as working hours, leave entitlements,
other benefits and welfare. "Employee Handbook” is
available to all employees upon request for referring
and understanding of their rights and interests. The
Group is committed to establishing a fair, transparent
and supportive working environment to ensure that
employees’ rights and interests are fully respected and
protected.

Welfare and Benefits

Adhering to the principles of fairness, reward and
legality, the Group has established a set of fair and
reasonable remuneration policies. In order to achieve
effective personnel management, the Group offers
rewards (e.g. promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g.
warning and dismissal) based on the employees’
performance and behaviour.

ER—2E8ENET  EBEETHIL
RBEERFTEERREEERTZENEER
ER BREEARRPEREN(FEAR
HMEBEE) ~ (PEARHEMESZH SR
)N (REARAMBEZEEEZ)URSE
BIEGIBETE(REED) ~ FEIEHFE485
B (R ATREE BRG] « BBIERISE 608
BE(RBIERG) « FEEHFFI80E (1R
I RARB) ~ BBIEH 55282% (1@ B E
B

B1. {&{&

VA1)

AL BB IRIBAAR S T EMERE
T REEEE > RE T BENRRE - 3
BEFIZE A TR - B TEHE %
ToME ~ RISIE ~ EAFSFER « B8
FRABIURE TS TS
o AREETENME 3t T RS
HMAEENETERE > RMABREET
FM) > EREEEH T 8 THER)
BN T B ~ BT=AHEER ~ EAOFIZAD
B FEEIMTURMETF
it > UESE BRI o &
EEROFEI—EAT  BENLRE
ST HEOTFIEE  URGESTHNE
HENRHEENIRE

1EFY R Fl 2

FEBRALQT « BBHNSENRA
FIET —EQTEENFHINEEER - /B
REMHAFEE » RIEFEETHIKRIFEM
77 AEERBTER  MEA > I
MEABR D » INE SRR o
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All employees are entitled to all statutory holidays,
leave and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave and
annual leave. In addition, the Group believes that
maintaining a work-life balance is essential to the
physical and mental health of employees. Therefore, we
always adhere to the principle of no forced overtime to
ensure that employees have sufficient rest and personal
time. We are committed to creating a positive
environment that supports the well-being and job
satisfaction of our employees and promotes their
overall well-being and growth.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally and
respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and abilities,
regardless of their race, religion, gender, age or
disability.

The Group strives to create a zero-tolerance
environment for bullying, belittling and sexual
harassment by implementing policies that prohibit
discrimination and harassment. The Group is
determined to oppose any form of discrimination and
harassment and encourages employees to actively
participate in and promote respect, inclusiveness and
diversity, creating a united and harmonious working
atmosphere where every employee feels safe,
respected and has the opportunity to realise their full
potential.

FIEET B REBKXMM T ARE
RRERFAEZERE ~ RPN EF -
BREEBARRIHIFER  15R - BIRM
FR o Lo ARERERFTERE
ERNTERETINEOREERESR -
E I > FAFI85 48 B A5 A 52 H N A9 R
A ERETENEERTENKEMNE
ABFE o HPAIBAORAIR—EHET
B TIEREERNBRIRE » &S
ITHEEFZRERRE -

FEHE  STIERREH

AEB-HEBRNORABEIRERFH
TIFRIR - ERMAZEQFFELE
BRDEE - B S TAYHENFHM
H EEE M PIBYIRBERBES] > TR
fthFIRITERR ~ B 1455 ~ FERIRE
AT °

BERTRELARMBENEE > 857
AIE—EZATHE - RIBMEREN
TRIRIE - RERRRBWERTZARIE
RABRRITR > WEKEE TRBSEM
RESE - BFMZKMN > BY—EH
EMENTFEAE > TEESEE T
EREZE  RISE > TEHERD
BEMPIFTES -
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 12 B E2024F 128310 "EBEBHE
employees (2023: 21 employees). The breakdown of 12%1EE (20235F : 21%EE8) » B
these employees by gender, age group and region are ETIMR ~ FEir485) Xt& 85 rIBE
as follows: A
By gender By age group
ZHERIBID RERA RS
® Male ® Under 30 years old
58% B 30T
° Female 30-50 years old
poqicd 30-503%
® Over 50 years old
03> W
92%
By region By employee category
R H S BB THERE S

® Mainland China ® Management

AR A3t EEE
Hong Kong Middle-level employees
A FERT
® Junior employees
YRET
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During the Reporting Period, the detailed distribution of
the Group’s turnover rate by gender, age and region is

PR EHRRE AR~ Filk Kot
BE DBURKLERFMOMUT -

as follows:
2024 2023
Percentage Percentage
of of
Number of employees Number of employees
employees leaving the employees leaving the
leaving the company* leaving the company*
Indicator company (%) company (%)
B TRER S TR BT R B TER
1518 AL H 53 LE4(%) N B 53 LE4(%)
By gender birg kel
— Male Bt 8 160 19 190.00
— Female pegc 7 100 16 145.45
By age group YR AR 238
— <30 <30 6 N/A REH 20 333.33
— 31-50 31-50 9 82 15 107.14
— >50 >50 N/A FERH NA FTER NATER NATEA
By region HitE R
— The PRC T 15 136 33 183.33
— Hong Kong o N/A R#ER N/A FE#EHR 2 66.67
Note: F 5 -
4. Formula for calculating the percentage of employees leaving the 4. BAREtEETEBEBAE SN ARA R

HARS R B A B 202412831 HEE
48 N\ #*100%

B2. #FRE%ZE
FEERNNAEEETRHEZZH
TRRE > SETHBXRREARZEE
REZEHBMUE - RFRE > BUE
THEREIFSAPRIZENR
B (R:E o EIE - FHPITIERRMASEE
PR ERERK -

company: the number of employees left during the Reporting
Period/total number of employees at 31 December 2024 * 100%

B2. Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe working
environment for all employees, placing the occupational
health and safety of employees as a top priority. We
deeply believe that every employee has the right to feel
safe and protected in the workplace. Therefore, we
spare no effort to minimise potential occupational
hazards.
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In-the Group's values, the health and safety of
employees are uncompromised. We strictly follow and
do not violate relevant laws and regulations relating to
workplace safety, including but not limited to the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases ({HZE A RHFEGHE
JHwBHA%Y) in Mainland China and the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) to ensure that our working environment
meets the standards and provides the best protection
measures.

We continuously invest resources and take necessary
measures, including risk assessment, training and
equipment maintenance, to ensure that the risks faced
by employees during their work are effectively
controlled. The Group encourages employees to actively
participate in safety management, provide opinions and
suggestions, and jointly promote the safety and health
of the workplace. During the past three reporting
periods, the Group did not have any work-related
fatalities or working days lost due to work injury, and
the work-related fatality rate was 0%. This is the
achievement of the Group’s focus and efforts on
occupational health and safety, as well as a firm
commitment to employee well-being.

EAEENEERT > ETHRENR
EEEZHH - HABRBBEIOR
BRATRSAZENRRERER
BEERNRRPEAEN(FEART
MBI R BI85 AR & B EH S
509% (i 2 2 M BERGRA) R
P TIFRIET G REL IR MR ER
TREEHE ©

HPIFFBERAER > FREU 2R -
SRR ~ B REAERE - LU
REIAZIFBETEENRAREE
BXMIES - EERBET RGBS RL S
B REHESRMNEZR  HE(EETF
SR Z 2 MMREN - FBE=ER
SR ARERELEARTHER
N IFERAETSARETIFH#NE
o TBRETER% - EREEHH
FREHEZ2NMEINES IR
thEH B TEMAIREKGE ©

uUnit 2024 2023 2022
B fif 20244 20234 20224
Work-related fatalities % 0 0 0
ATEFET %
Wwork injury Cases 0 0 0
T1E 4l
Days lost due to work injury Days 0 0 0
ATEELBH KE
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The Group will continuously pay attention to and
improve the occupational health and safety
management system to ensure that employees can
exert their best ability in a safe and healthy working
environment. We regard the occupational health and
safety of employees as our utmost responsibility and
will continue our efforts to ensure that the health,
safety and well-being of every employee is protected to
the greatest extent. In case any employee encounters
any work-related injuries, the Group will take all
necessary measures to ensure that proper medical care
is offered to the relevant employee.

The Group has implemented the following management
approaches to create and maintain a comfortable, safe
and healthy working environment for the employees:

o The administration department is responsible for
setting up the position of person in charge of
safety management in each premise,
implementing the person in charge as the person
responsible for safety production, and establishing
an emergency team to regularly investigate,
manage and rectify accidents and hidden hazards
of production safety.

o In the event of a safety management accident, the
person in charge of safety management shall
immediately organise relevant personnel to deal
with it accordingly to avoid losses to the
Company’s property and the personal safety of
employees in a timely manner.

o Storing and using flammable, explosive and other
dangerous goods, such as mosquito coils, stoves,
lighters and other equipment with naked flames,
are strictly prohibited. Smoking should be taken in
a designated area, and smoking indoors or in an
undesignated area is not allowed.

5 B B Al st BRE A CUE B SR
RERAZ2EERR > BREILAENHTE
—fEB%E ~ BN TIFREREHEMF
BIBR{ERETT o FFIRE TRIBESR BN
ZERESELNEE X LKERS
EARESMUETHRE - Z2MELEE
RAEENRE  HEARERZER
I ZK%@?H%HYFEEZ\E? I > B
RAGHESRHMBEEEBRERE -

ARREESENMER—EFE 22K
BENIIERE  AEEEBTUTE
e

THE & EESEMAGRT
22EHEAE A REXTEEE
ABREEESEA > WAILE
N ERHEEREERR
BHEREMEDN o

°
—\\

E%*

o BALRSEHEHIFHNE > Z2EE
BEANEE—HEEREMAR
EITRERE > REFRBEHANF
MEURBET AZZEIEMIAR

s BETFR ERZN - ZEZL

B o BUINEE ~ NIE ~ FT KA

f-Eﬂ)\ %o IETE TS E &

B> RNAFFEERIKRIEERE
HOE o
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o Electricity is used safely without overloading
electrical appliances and unauthorised connection
of electrical wires to ensure personal safety when
using electrical appliances. Electrical facilities are
inspected after work and personal workplace
electrical equipment, chargers and other
flammable and explosive dangerous goods are
turned off in a timely manner.

o The administration department arranges an overall
fire inspection once a month to check whether
the fire extinguishers, fire hydrants, smoke
sensor, fire sprinkler, etc. are in good condition.
The person in charge of safety management of
each premise is responsible for patrolling the
building, checking the safety of various electrical
appliances, office equipment, corridors, and
personnel entry and exit, and handling problems
in a timely manner.

B3. Development and Training

The development of the Group revolves around the
people-oriented concept and the Group attaches great
importance to the personal development of employees.
By investing in employees through training, employees’
job satisfaction and loyalty can be enhanced. Different
types of training are provided internally by the
Company with the aim of improving employees’
knowledge and abilities.

All employees will receive on-the-job training, including
the Group’s introduction, department structure,
responsibilities, required skills and work instructions,
etc., which help to ensure that all employees have
sufficient knowledge and skills to provide high-quality
services to customers. As the above training is provided
on a regular basis, no record is collected. In addition to
employee training, the Group also provides training to
the directors, covering topics such as their
responsibilities, updates on legal and regulatory rules,
latest business development and corporate governance,
to ensure that the directors possess the latest
knowledge and skills so that they can discharge their
duties and adapt to the changing business
environment.

s RE2A%ETHBAENEAESRK
FARIBLIZF B UWREBFEHER
KOASZE - THBERER
o REEEAEATESR
B REBEESZZMBIRERY -

s THHERAEHMZH—REEHE
PiRsE > B AES R
BER - EMHEBEREDTE > &
Ghhe2EEas A AasKEX
B BRESBES  WARE
BEzE  ABERER > #R
B RBFRIE o

R R
FEENEREGEUARENES
SEEREINEALE - BBKRES
TRYER > AIUBRABR I IIERERE
MBHE - REAEPREZ BN ERE
BYEFI - STEBMNE TAYRBIT IR S M
fIBYBETT ©

B3.

FiE B T#R ARSI > RAEEE
REBBNAE ~ BPIEE - BE - FRE
REEM TRiET S » BB BB
RFFEE T A ENBIRM BN A
HUmE PR HEERRE - B LHiE
FNT5E HALR (- (Al b 3 R SR R AT 5C
B o bR T BETIEI > KEBEAESREM
Bl AR REHBE EENEER
AINRIER - FHBIRFERULE
XRESHH  BEREZRMAEERMAN
FANEEE > LUBEMPIBESIBITHBES
38 FE A i B B B R IR IR o
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By providing training and development opportunities to
employees, we hope to unleash their potential and
provide them with approaches for growth and
promotion. We cherish the personal development of
employees and have established a learning organisation
to encourage continuous learning, growth and
innovation of employees. In this way, we believe that
employees will be able to better cope with job
challenges and achieve personal and occupational
success.

During the Reporting Period, the breakdown of the
percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category of the Group is as follows:

mERETIRMEIINZERET - FfI
HEREMMINES > LAMPIREMN
RMNBEANEE - RAEREIHEA
B> TRU—(ESBHHER > %BE
THAE2E « pliRMAIR - BBEES
X HPEEE T EF AN T
TEDREL » WESE A MBS EBIRT) o

PR EHAR » AERRIER R REE
FN0EERIFDLLBRMENT -

Breakdown of

Breakdown of

employees employees

trained trained

in 20245 in 2023°

Indicator (%) (%)

20244 20234

3 & TEA4HS 1= EF

it (%) (%)

By gender ¥R oEE

— Male — 5% 33 25

— Female — M 67 75
By employee category KBEEER 2%

— Management — BIEE 67 50

— Middle-level employees —FhEET 33 50

— Junior employees — YRET = —
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Employees Employees

trained trained

in 2024¢ in 2023¢

Indicator (%) (%)

20244 20234

Zil&Te ZAl8Ie

it (%) (%)

By gender g kdall o

— Male — B 20.00 10.00

— Female — % 28.57 27.27
By employee category HESER D

— Management — EEE 66.67 3.33

— Middle-level employees — HREET 25.00 22.22

— Junior employees — VKB T = =

Average Average

training training

hours of hours of

employees employees

in 20247 in 20237

Indicator (hours) (hours)

20244 20234

BT BT ¥

Z el R =l g

1512 (/MEF) (NEF)

By gender IR 958

— Male — B 3.00 10.00

— Female — 2 3.57 27.27
By employee category KBRS 924

— Management — BB 8.33 3.33

— Middle-level employees — HAEET 3.75 22.22

— Junior employees — ¥HRBET = e

Notes:

MdE -

5

Formula for calculating the breakdown of employees
trained = number of employees trained under x category/total
number of employees trained at 31 December 2024 * 100%

Formula for calculating the percentage of employees
trained = number of employees trained/total number of
employees at 31 December 2024 * 100%

Formula for calculating average training hours of
employees = total training hours/total number of employees at
31 December 2024

5 S ETHMAFEAR= xEREZIA
2024512831 H4EZ F18 £*100%

6. SIHNEIESEHEARN=F I &
82024512831 B @ 848 A #*100%

7. BI¥FHRIRHGFEALX-MBZIE
/202412831 HIg BB AE
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B4. Labour Standards

Preventing Child and Forced Labour

The Group adheres to stringent internal review
procedures during the recruitment process, including
verifying personal information of applicants. For
example, the recruitment department requires
candidates to provide identity proof to ensure that their
age meets the legal requirements. If any relevant
incident occurs, the management will make necessary
reports to the law enforcement agency and conduct
internal investigations to determine if there are any fault
that may lead to such incident during the recruitment
process.

The Group strictly complies with and does not violate
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({&
= AR HEMELEE)) and the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China ((FZEARFEMEHENS
[E5%)) in Mainland China, the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
labour regulations related to the prohibition of child and
forced labour employment. We strictly prohibit the
employment of forced and child labour. During the
Reporting Period, all employees were over the age of 18
and officially employed in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. The Group did not identify any
non-compliance or complaint.

We are committed to ensuring the compliance and
transparency of the recruitment process, and strictly
comply with the requirements of laws and regulations,
value the rights and well-being of employees, and strive
to provide them with fair and equal employment
opportunities. The Group will continue to strengthen the
internal review process to ensure the accuracy and
legality of the recruitment process, and continuously
improve the recruitment standards to ensure that every
employee can obtain employment opportunities in a fair
and transparent environment.

B4. % T #A8

Bk ET REFHET

AEBTERBRREPETREIADD
Z2REN SEZERSANEAAR
#} o BN > IRESERPTE ERIRE IR M
S ERRUBRAFENTSEREE
WMRBLEEMBEETHR > EEESOR
ERBFH L E2RRE  LRFANEH
EUEERBBRREPRSFEEMA
BEEREHWAIKRR

FEBBRBETIREER PEIKE
BCREARKEMBESZE L) > (FEA
REMBEFEBEEE) UAREB LGS
STE(RERG) FHMEMEILESR
EITMRHE TNEEER - HMIRE
fRFAsRHIEE TMET - 7EREHAM > P
BEREHZ 18U L > WIRIEBRZE
BMERENR R - AEERBEHIFE
AAEHREEIIRF ©

HABRNREREBEBRENGRMEM
FEHE > TBERETERNERNE
Ko BRETRERMEBU > WD
PR EAEMFEHMERS - £EF
A E MR ERERREL  RERERA
EREBREN AN » AR RE
1R DI RE — I8 TERETE A F A
FERRRIRIETESMRES -
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B5. Supply Chain Management B5. {HFEHEEIR

The Group attaches great importance to supply chain
management, not only focus on enhancing cost
competitiveness, but also the sustainability of the
supply chain. The Group supports the purchase of
environmentally friendly products to minimise the
impact of our business operations on the environment
while maintaining close cooperation with suppliers to
ensure the quality of products and services provided to
our customers. The Group strictly monitors the
selection and performance of suppliers to ensure that
they can provide high-quality products and services to
meet operational needs and customers’ expectations.
During the year, the Group cooperated with 64 (2023:
58) suppliers. Good cooperative relations are
established to jointly solve problems and improve
processes through regular communication and
cooperation, so as to ensure the stability and reliability
of the supply chain. We strive to ensure the
responsibility and sustainability of the supply chain by
purchasing environmentally friendly products,
monitoring the performance and selection of suppliers,
and regularly evaluating and eliminating suppliers that
do not meet the standards. The Group will continue to
focus on and improve its supply chain management to
achieve the goal of sustainable development in
economic, environmental and social aspects.

FEBFEERMEMBBEE » TERE
RAMRARSE ] B HEBRI AR
B EEXRBEIRFRAER UK
PXRBEEHRENTERERME
EREHEERIEESE  UBERH
FERRHNERNRBIRE - KEH
HEBNEENGMETRREE
LR RMFPIBESRERmENERM
R LUmE BE R RME BV -
REE > EEHEAZR (2023 1 58K)
HEBRRT G1F  RFABRLT REFH
GIFRf% - BRERNEBNGE  HE
FRORREE ~ CUERE » HERHEHERE
ENMEMAISEN - BERBIRFRER &
EHEBHRIRANERE - DU ERG
MBIFT R EIRERNHER > SRR
HEENESEMN G - EESEE
RUEMCGEMBEEE » MELE IR
ENMERE LBRIFEERENE

A

PEABZERERATE » 2024 FERS 79



80

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIG - B REREBS

Open and Fair Procurement

The Group closely monitors the performance of existing
suppliers and selects new suppliers based on various
standards such as clear qualifications, company scale
and reputation. Each procurement department regularly
evaluates the approved suppliers to ensure that the
products and services purchased by the Group meet
the standards. Those suppliers who fail to meet the
standards for a long time will be eliminated. We
emphasise the transparency and compliance of
procurement decisions to ensure that records and
documents of the procurement process are kept in
order for audit and verification. The “Technology
Outsourcing Management Policy” established by the
Group clearly sets out the guidelines on competitive
bidding and supplier performance evaluation. According
to the policy, we will obtain guotations from more than
one supplier for comparison, so as to ensure the
impartiality of the supplier audit process. Fair
procurement is not only a procurement method, but
also a value and ethical behaviour. We firmly believe
that fair procurement can promote the sustainability
and stability of the supply chain, promote the
development of suppliers, and create long-term value
for the Group's business and stakeholders.

During the Reporting Period, due to the nature of the
Group’s core business activities, the Group did not
engage any major suppliers. We still actively participate
in and implement the “Technology Outsourcing
Management Policy” to ensure that the criteria and
procedures stipulated in the system can be followed
when selecting suppliers in the future.

NS
rEERREEREHERBIHKRE
WIRREENE T « QAERENEES
SRR MR - SRBHPIEH
SHATERUERIHIER - LIRS SEE
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Green Procurement

Green procurement is an important business practice
that promotes sustainable development and
environmental protection and can have a positive
impact on the environment by selecting and using
environmentally friendly products and services. In the
procurement process, the Group will consider
environmental factors and strive to cooperate with
green suppliers who provide products that meet
environmental standards, and give priority to products
with environmental certifications, such as products with
high energy efficiency, use of renewable energy, low
carbon emissions, and those which are non-toxic and
harmless, recyclable and reusable. Green procurement
not only helps reduce environmental impact, but also
promotes innovation and sustainable development. By
supporting an environmentally friendly supply chain, it
can promote the development of green technologies
and products and create more sustainable value for the
Group'’s business and community.

Product Responsibility

Quality Assurance

The Group is well aware of the importance of product
quality to its brand reputation. Therefore, it
continuously strives to improve product quality and
ensures customer satisfaction by establishing a robust
quality assurance system and providing high-quality
after-sales services. In order to reduce the risk of
product responsibility, the Group has established a strict
“Product Quality Assurance Process” to ensure that
products meet internal quality standards. If a product
failure is not caused by improper use, the Group will
recall the product and refund the customer. Apart from
product quality assurance, the Group also provides
other value-added services, including product
warranties and after-sales services, so as to meet
customers’ needs. We are committed to providing
high-quality after-sales support to ensure that
customers can enjoy comprehensive services after
purchasing our products. Our customers can trust our
after-sales support and solutions to ensure their
satisfaction and trust in our products to maintain our
brand reputation and customer loyalty.
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The Group strictly complies with and does not violate
relevant laws and regulations relating to product
responsibility that have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Product Quality
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({(F#E AR
HEREE%)), the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests
(FEARENEEEE#EmREE)) and the Civil Law
of the People’s Republic of China ((FZEARHEEER
SABAY) in Mainland China, the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.

complaints Handling Procedures

The Group attaches great importance to customers'’
opinions and feedback, which is a crucial factor in
driving the Group’s continuous improvement. We have
established various communication channels, such as
through our website and customer service hotline, with
the aim of handling customer concerns and issues
more effectively.

The Group will make every effort to promptly
investigate and resolve all disputes and complaints
raised by customers. The Group has formulated relevant
“Customer Complaint Handling Policy” to ensure that all
customer complaints are properly handled. Once a
complaint is received, the responsible personnel will
investigate the matter and take appropriate actions in a
timely manner. We are committed to providing excellent
customer service, listening to customers’ complaints
and feedback seriously, and taking active actions to
solve problems, ensuring that complaints are handled in
a timely manner, and maintaining communication with
customers to ensure that problems are properly solved,
and customer satisfaction is achieved.
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As a responsible enterprise, we will ensure that the
mechanism for customer complaints is transparent and
fair, and comply with all applicable laws and
regulations, providing high-level services and solutions
by strengthening the training and capabilities of our
customer service team continuously. We will continue
to handle customer complaints in a professional, agile
and responsible manner, provide customers with
satisfactory solutions, maintain long-term and stable
customer relationships, and continuously improve our
business to meet customers’ expectations and needs.
During the year, the Group did not receive any material
complaints about products and services in any form.

Personal Data Privacy

As the Group relies on the internet for daily business
and information exchange, network security has
become crucial. The Group attaches great importance
to the privacy protection of personal data and complies
with applicable privacy laws and regulations when
collecting, using and storing customers’ personal data.
In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the Group
has established measures to reduce the risk of
employees leaking confidential information to outsiders
and protect the confidentiality and integrity of
customers’ personal data. The Group strictly prohibits
the use of customers’ personal data for any purposes
other than what have been stated in the customer
contracts. If any employee has been discovered of
misappropriating customers’ personal data, the Group
will take disciplinary action against the employee
concerned and reserve its right to take legal actions.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by all
employees of the Group to ensure that they are aware
of their legally binding obligations of protecting
confidential information of the Group. Furthermore, the
Group maintains information technology systems with
high level of security to prevent unauthorised access to
confidential information. We will continue to strengthen
data protection measures, regularly review and update
privacy policies, and regularly upgrade operating
systems, security programs and hardware to protect
customer information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group attaches great importance to the protection
of intellectual property rights, which is an important
part of the sustainable development and maintenance
of brand reputation. The Group will continue to
strengthen the monitoring and protection measures of
intellectual property rights and cooperate with relevant
institutions and lawyers to ensure that the Group's
rights and interests are effectively protected. We will
actively respond to any infringement and take
appropriate legal measures to protect our own
intellectual property rights. We have formulated the
“Trademark Management Policy” and “Intellectual
Property Management Policy” to actively enforce
intellectual property rights against third-party infringers
to ensure that its intellectual property is closely
monitored and adequately protected. The legal
department is responsible for identifying any
unauthorised use of the Group’s trademarks by third
parties. Legal actions will be taken in due course upon
identification of any trademark infringements. During the
Reporting Period, the Group complied with and did not
violate any laws and regulations related to intellectual
property rights that have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Trademark Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({E AR HME
Z5%)) and the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({FhZE AR FEMEZEEREE)) in Mainland China
and the Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

Anti-corruption

The Group attaches great importance to clean operation
and ethical behaviour, requires all employees to comply
with relevant laws and regulations, and strengthens
employees’ awareness and knowledge of
anti-corruption and compliance through training and
education, continuously strengthens internal control and
supervision mechanism, and ensures that the operation
of the enterprise is within the framework of legality,
integrity and transparency, so as to maintain the
reputation of the enterprise and the trust of the
society.
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The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes for
any purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited to
abuse their power and/or take advantage of their
position for personal gain. The Group provides directors
and employees with detailed and comprehensive
information and a thorough understanding of
anti-corruption issues. The Group's "Employee
Handbook” clearly sets out guidelines for the
acceptance of gifts. As stipulated in the guidelines, all
employees are required to exercise caution and
judgment when accepting gifts. Gifts should not be
accepted if they are of a value higher than RMB300 (or
equivalent). In addition, the Group arranges training on
basic ethics such as anti-corruption for all directors and
employees, so as to raise awareness of corruption,
conflict of interest and integrity issues.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied
with and did not violate all relevant laws and
regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FE
AR FEMEAEY) and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the People’s Republic of China ({F#E A R HME &
FEE27%)) in Mainland China, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance
(Chapter 405 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and the
Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Chapter 455
of the Laws of Hong Kong).
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

The Group firmly opposes any form of corruption and is
committed to establishing a corporate culture of
integrity and honesty. We encourage employees to
actively participate in anti-corruption work, recognise
the importance of whistleblowing, and guarantee the
confidentiality and security of whistleblowers. The Group
has formulated the "Anti-corruption Management
Policies” and “Whistleblowing Policies”, which clearly set
out the procedures for reporting corruption and fraud
cases and the Group encourages employees to report
any suspicious fraudulent activities. After a potential
case is being reported, the Group will conduct
investigations with due care, and an investigation report
will be prepared and submitted to the Board. For any
proven fraud case, punishment will be inflicted pursuant
to the policies. The Group has the responsibility to
protect the whistleblower from potential retaliation,
which the whistleblower’s identity remains anonymous
and is protected throughout the investigation. Also, the
whistleblower should not be placed into any
disadvantaged position in relation to the employment.
Therefore, the employees reporting in good faith under
this procedure shall be assured of the protection
against unfair dismissal or victimisation, even if the
reports are subsequently proved to be unsubstantiated.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note or
report any corruption and money laundering cases
which have been raised, commenced and concluded
against the Group or its employees.
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B8. Community Investment
The Group understands the importance of giving back to
the society and strongly supports employees to
participate in community services to achieve a
sustainable and harmonious society. During the
Reporting Period, the Group and its employees actively
participated in social practice activities:

o On 14 September 2024, the Group participated in
the "Glorious Bursary (F£¥Bh2)" event organised
by Dangshan County Charity Federation, aiming to
support the educational development of local
private enterprises through targeted donations via
Xihu District Charity Federation. The event was
held in Dangshan County, and the Group donated
RMB2,000, providing more learning resources for
students and contributing a gesture of goodwill.

o On 22 October 2024, the Group continued to
donate equipment to the Classes at 4:30 in
Gaoluo Town, Enshi Prefecture, in which a
second-hand color printer and an amount of
RMB300 were donated to support the learning
needs of local students. The donation event was
organised by Gele City Community, Gaoluo Town.
The Group hoped to enhance students' learning
environment and support their academic growth
through such equipment, as well as express our
support for the education sector.

In the future, the Group will continue to carry out social
welfare and charity activities, actively assume social
responsibilities, and contribute to the establishment of
a better society.
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INDEX

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SR E R E

IRIG - B REREBS

NFAL]

Section/Statement
=i L

BERZFRIRIR - L E R ERHEIE5IA

Governance Structure
rﬁ /_\731:11;%

Reporting Principles
PEER /=AY

Reporting Boundary
PE R0 E

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and Key Performance

ESG Governhance Structure
IRIE - B RERAERE
Reporting Framework
REEZ

Reporting Scope

HREHE

Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Statement
FTEHE-BE - —&
1% 8 Mo R R AR BUHE AR (KP1)  5REA =801
Aspect A1: Information on: Emissions
Emissions (@) the policies; and
(b)y  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
EBEAT: By BRI REREHR Mkt HMES - BEERESE B
EVMHNEESDH !
(@ BER; &
by BETFTHETABEAZENHEEEERRANER -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
BE R I AR R B IR B o BERD
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas  Emissions — Greenhouse
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity. Gas Emissions
Bi% (#8E) RERERE (EE2) REREHNE METE) & HY — AEREFHK
EE (EA) o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity. Emissions — Waste
Management
FRELXBEEEMRE UETE) REE - BEY) — BYEE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures

and Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs)
TEHEE@m - —#

IRIG - 1B RERHS

Description

1% B8 X2 A B2 AR A4S AR (KP1) SR PA

Section/Statement

B8 8H

Aspect A1: Emissions (Continued)

BEAT : B (&)

KPI A1.4

KPI A1.5

KPI A1.6

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

FREEEEREYMBE LIMEE) RNEE -

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

HAMFTEI I HINE B RN AETE LB IZFT R L B o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HMMEBEEEABEEEYMN G ZE i
NAEIEE BRI R B o

Fh 5] 32 AV EE B AR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 G ZHEF

General Disclosure

—RRIRE

KPI A2.1

KPI A2.2

KPI A2.3

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.
BMERER (BIFEER ~ KX EMEMED) BIEES ©

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity.
RERE| 5

YN EERSEEERBEEREE

Water consumption in total and intensity.

BIEKBRBE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

A FTE] I P98

EREANm B R AENELEBE RIS

¥ EE

Emissions — Waste
Management
BB — BEYEIE

Emissions; Environmental
Targets

W) ; ImiEEE

Emissions — Waste
Management

B — BEYEE

Use of Resources

HIRERA

Use of Resources —
Energy Management
BRER — EREE

Use of Resources —
Water Management
BRFER — AKEE

Use of Resources —
Energy Management;
Environmental Targets
BRFER — BERBIE;
RIEER
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
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and Key Performance

Indicators (KPIs) Description
TEHEE®m - —#

% 2 M RSB AR SR IEAZ(KPI)  3RER

Section/Statement

-0 L

Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued)

BEA2 : (FHEE ()

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

R EGE A KR ErI B AR BE > URPIE] LB A K =@
12X AR5 L BAZFR R BY 5 B o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
S mTABEEMENGEE UEEE) X (NER) SEEEN
fh= o

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 IRIERXAEZIR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

— IR E BREBTAHRENRRAERENEATZENEES -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HMIMEE ENHIBRBENRAERNEAXLELERNEIEERE
FENITE ©

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BEA4 @ mIZEE

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

— IR E AN EHERNAEEHETAEEEENEAREHEBSE
BEHIBER o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
BRERNAIGEEHETAELELENEAREHBAEZEE &
FEH1TE) ©
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs)
TEHE-BE - —K&

Description

REPORT

Section/Statement

% 2 M IR AR SR IEAZ(KPI) 3R EA =80 1
Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1: 1EE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment
(@  the policies; and
(b)y  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
—mRIRE ERAFINARE - BRELEA - TEFE - RE - FEEE -2 B#BF
ot s RIBRUREMGEBEREF
(@ BER; X
(b) BEFHETABEAZENHEEEERRFANER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-  Employment — Equal
or part-time), age group and geographical region. Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination
R BEEL (W2BERRE  FREANMERSNE BE — FEERE 2T
T4 b X R I558
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical ~ Employment — Equal

region.

R~ FRERRMES DB TRKLER -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2 : BERZLE

General Disclosure Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

ERREZETREMMREE TR R EMBEN .

(@ BER; X

(b) BEFHETABEAZENEEEERRFANER -

— AR ER

Opportunity, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination

Bl — FERE 25T
b X & 548

Health and Safety
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
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and Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs)
TEHEE®m - —#

% 2 M RSB AR SR IEAZ(KPI)  3RER

Description

Section/Statement

-0 L

Aspect B2: Health and Safety (Continued)
BEB2 : BERZZE ()

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years including the reporting year.
BE=-F (BREERFE) SFRTTHHNABIKIEZE -

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
AITHEBRITIEHE -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
P ERAN B B SR R R B 2 48 T > A MERA TR ER R 5 0% ©

Aspect B3: Development and Training
/BEB3 ! #REKIE
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
ERARABIRIT LIEH BN Ak aENEER Mt galE
& o

— AR ER

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
EMRRETERN ek EERE - PREERE) BIoNZIIE
TER.

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BUERNRBETENE D SR B TR TR -
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs)
TEHE-BE - —K&

1 22 M B SR 4R SRR AZ (KPI)

IRIG - 1B RERHS

Description

5t BA

Section/Statement

B8 8H

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

JEEB4 : & T#H|

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI B4.1

KPI B4.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

BRAB IEE TR TaY ¢

(@ BE; M
by BTFHETABEAFENHBEENRANELR -

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

MR IR EA BB RE T NREI%E T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

BB IRER B R ERE BRI REAI P 5F o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

/BEBS5 & HEHEEE

General Disclosure
— R EE

KPI B5.1

KPI B5.2

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
BIRHEENIRIE Nt & B EER -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

miu &8 DR HEFEE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HL BRI RAEEEIIES > mERITERBANHEREREE
MR AERIT R EE R 5 7% ©
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Management
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Indicators (KPIs) Description Section/Statement
TEHEE®m - —#
% 2 M RSB AR SR IEAZ(KPI)  3RER =801
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management (Continued)
/BEEBS  HEHREIE ()
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and  Supply Chain
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are  Management — Green
implemented and monitored. Procurement
BB RAMPEEESERNNIRIE T RENES > Uk HERSE — &6
MERMITREERTGE R
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally — Supply Chain
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and ~ Management
how they are implemented and monitored.
HERERERNSEELHARRERNRBWES > U8 HEESIE

BT RERDE -

Aspect Bé6: Product Responsibility

JBEB6 EpEIT

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI B6.1

KPI B6.2

94

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)y  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.

ERMEHERNRBNEREZS - ES - FRELMESE

MU s £

(@ BE; &

by BETHETABEAZENHEEERRFANER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

BENEEXERBHPRZERERIEAMARKNE DL

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

HERNERRRBORFBEEUNRER S E -
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Description

1% B8 X2 A B2 AR A4S AR (KP1) SR PA

Section/Statement

B8 8H

Aspect Bé6: Product Responsibility (Continued)
EBEB6 XA EmEIE (&)

KPI B6.3

KPI B6.4

KPI B6.5

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

MR R RER B EE G RARIES -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
LB EMEBRENERCWER

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
ol B E B RMRERFARBEER » UNEREBITMERSGE

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 : RE’S

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI B7.1

KPI B7.2

Information on:

(@  the policies; and

(b)y  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRI LIEFERE ~ 313 ~ BREF LR ERAY ¢

(@ BER; X

(b) BEFHETABEAZENHEEAEERRFANER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
FHERBAHETANEETRETEEGENESFHFAZGN
HE NEFNER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BB B R BRIZT > URERRATRERSE -

Product Responsibility
— Intellectual Property
Rights

EnEE — A#HE#

Product Responsibility
— Quiality Assurance

Emaft — E8RE

Product Responsibility
— Personal Data Privacy
EmEE — BAER
N

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

— Whistleblowing
Mechanism

REE — IS
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TEHEE®m - —#
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Description

Section/Statement
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption (Continued)
EEB7: RET (48)
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.

HEmEEKETRENRESEI -

Aspect B8: Ccommunity Investment
/EEBS : HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

— AR BNt RSERTHEEMTHRFENEREESTHE
EEMEF MBI o

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIERMEE (NHAE BREEE-HFIER - BE XMt-8
B

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

TEIBBAMBBNER WEHRAERE) o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
VR ER TR

@ pakertilly
R B ] PR

Independent auditor’'s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 105 to 199, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BRPERABERERABRRZBIZHARS
(RHASHEEEMEILZEIRAE)

BER

Az EEN (LUT 7% T3%Ff)) EERSENE105E
19BZFEREBIERERAE (EAF) REK
BRE (BEEE) NEAMBRE 25K
BMBREREER2024F 1283 BNGEEHHR
NMEREBEZALEFENGSRa REMEAE K
AT GERnBIRNGEREETRER » UNE
GUMBRENWE > BEETEEHABREN -

BMRE GEVBRECEREBESBIHNAE
(TEBEHMAE)) BHENE BT BRE G
AlEEmMAAMR IR BHEER20245412831H
NEEaBERIUNESEZR ELEENG SR
BREMMIGESNE » TEEREBATEMNN
WEERL AR o

EREER

KRBT BN ASRMHIEAEFER (&
BEFER) BTEZ - ARFENT > HANE
FEFTREAN B BLG M BREAKE
WEE —BE—S Bl - RIEEFBGMNLEH
rEXEstenERTRL (TR - ZRABUK B
S8 TEEBRTIRTHEMBREEE - FHFIE
5 HFIFTERNERRERER ENEEH 3
WEREHER -
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B\ BETHR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

FEEZEE

BB FINERFE > BRELSFESEFATZN
BN GE S BRETREENEE - HIEH
ZERGEEMBRRMMLERERFEELE
FE G MAERLEFIREFERER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition on provision of smart retail services

tERE ZTERE W o FE5T

The key audit matter
RREZEIHR

Revenue from the provision of smart retail services
amounted to approximately HK$26,749,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

HE2024F12ANHILEFE » ZHEZZERBAFIE
#7326,749,00078 7T ©

We identified revenue recognition from the provision of
smart retail services as a key audit matter due to it is the
main revenue stream to the Group. Revenue performance
is also the key performance indicator of the Group which
affects the management’s reward and also is a focus of
investors.

KPS RES S ERBNN AR H# R S HEREE%ZEE
FRALD SEENFEWHEKRE W@RRETAE &
SENERENIEE HRZEEBEENLR > TAKRESE
BIRAESE RS ©

Details of revenue recognition from the provision of smart
retail services and its accounting policies are set out in
note 5 and note 2, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.
REBSSTERBION AR N E S BERFE D RER
e B IRRMI TSR MIEE2

98

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMEEZHPRERAREREENSZ

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition of
smart retail services include the following:
B EE RS ERBRaETNEZEFEE

. Understanding the business process of the smart retail
business;
EREETEERNERRER;

. Assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating to
revenue recognition,

BN e SR A R AR A B B IR RIS 5T ~ B E
ENBERIE ;

. Inspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
with customers and major business partners to assess
if there were any terms and conditions that may have
affected the accounting treatment of the related
revenue; and
REHERANEREBTEHSONTIEGRREYG XU
TER S EEA e ZEANmN Bt B IEIIER
Rt 5 R

. Inspecting, on a sample basis, the customer
acceptance documents, the contracts and invoices
evidencing that the performance obligations of
services were satisfied and control was transferred.
HESERBRERBNER BT RIEGEEEREN
ERBUSG s B REE o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables
5B 5 I 7 BRI B 15 1 1

The key audit matter
AT IZEIE

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$4,242,000 against which a
total loss allowance of approximately HK$4,225,000 was
recorded.

12024 12A831H EEXEENEZEWNRIBAENS
4,242,000787T > #1575 BIRVEERHE 5 494,225,000 7T ©

Management measured loss allowance at an amount
equal to expected credit losses (“ECLs”). ECLs are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive). The ECLS
take into account the ageing of trade receivables
balances, the repayment history of the Group’s debtors of
different risk characteristics, current market conditions,
debtor-specific conditions, and the Group’'s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the trade
receivables.

EREEREREEERE (FBHEEHIE)) stEEEEE -
TEHIE SRR EEHENEIRNEMLST - EE/BEZM
EHEAERRRE ARESNEN EXENRERE
o EBEEEERKREINRESREZENEL) WIREHE -
FEREERIBE R T BERRNFIEGEHRNRE - BEER
BERERBEMNEBANERES - RBEFMRE s BBA
NIFEHRER BESXEMEZENHIETEREREFSE
AR EZE o

FEEXSEIE (&

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BAEERPEEMRERERNS A

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for trade
receivables include the following:
BMTHESERFIBEREEENEZERSE

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design
and implementation of management’'s key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and
estimation of ECLs;

BT MHEREEMEEES - WEKEIREERE
TR R BB IE R St R B ;

° Assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables’ ageing report were classified within
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with underlying documentation;,
BIBLLRE Z EWFIER IR S P a9 E R 1E B BRI
B T EBREINEERS N AEEIREE ;

° Obtaining an understanding of the key parameters and
assumptions of the ECLs model adopted by the
management, including historical default data and
management’s estimated loss rates;
EREEEMRARREERERANFEAR2 AR
% OREFPENHENEEBMGITNEERE;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables (Continued)

I E S BB B BT IR 7 e (AR

The key audit matter
FREZEIE

We identified loss allowance for trade receivables as a key
audit matter because determining the level of loss
allowance requires the exercise of significant management
judgement which is inherently subjective.

KM EZRNFIEEEREHR AMEEZEE T E
NECEEEEN KENEEEEEEES A > mA
EAE ERFERE o

Details of loss allowance of trade receivables are set out
in note 22 and note 3(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, and its accounting policies are set out in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

BN IEEEEENF BN Ea Y BRI 2R
MIEE3@)(i) » EE st BRI SN A B RMEE2 0

100

FEE&REIE (B

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BAEERPEEMRERSFENS A

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s 10ss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default
data and evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information; and
BARETEIEEERERMAEERNER » SFARE
SPEABIRNER Y LT HEEEIEXESREETN
KB LAEEERMEHEERE » L EIEERE
BEGTNEENE ; &

Reperforming the calculation of the loss allowance
based on the Group's credit loss allowance policies.
RiE BEENEEBBRERRENTEHIREE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Hith&E ¥

BERNEEFANHMEREETE - HthEHEE
HINERNER N EEGT M B RER NI
ZEENRE ©

R GEMBERRFENERIEREAME
# MM EHHMENEREATTEAIZEZE

A
A ©

REPBERESHBRENS » RFPNETANE
HinEk  (TE R EN R TRESHBERE
RBFEBLBRTEENERFEEART > &
TP FEE AR o

HERFEREETH IFRAHEMENLIER
REERERAL - HPIRREBEMER - pilk - HFIR
BEMRS -

EENBREZEONGEEMBREREA
AENEE

BERDEFACEREEBGMAGEMIE
AU BREGHEIREB A RAIKEEX
MEEBMA T RRIERNGEEHHRE > K&
FETHRREAMBRRBYL ZNERANEE
7 DEREG VB RR NS EHREFIE
RMEBRAE AR ©

TREGEMBREE > EFRAEME &5
BECEMED  IRBESBECEARNER
WEA) -FHFRIFEFHS EEBBEIEFELE
& HkRIbZ SN EEMBIRAITAIINE - BRIZA
RANFECEFAEst AR

BEnZEEWY BNEEFRTHEHEE E55H
MBRERIZHBE °
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

102

ZEET A B xR & M B R R A KIEN
BE

HANERA S ERBLSIGSMBREAERM
ENEFAEBARRGFRERMERMEAERR
oo WEHEB RS ROVRHAERS - HFIED
ERRRERARE » TMEEMAE - HFIBTRL
AHREHNABTHEAEMALTEETNARERNS
(G

BEREBSEANZE  BRBEEBETEDE
THERZ I FTEREREREMFENERE
SRERA o SEERFRAM P]RIEREFERIEERE L » HIE R
ERECERIBRA TR EERERERSH
BV BRERFLNEERER » AIRRESERER
BRAt

EREE BB ERETERNERED  RAER
ERFE > RIFSERBRERE - AT :

o BRI NFHEHERMEFRERMERG G
BRFAEEANERRANER - &5 K917
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

ZEET B R S M B R R AKEN

BE (&

s HEERARELCESFERNEEMFH
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

Chan Sai Ho
Practising certificate number P07705
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ZEET A B iR & M B R R A KIEN
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SalEnkEMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2024F 12831 HILEE LUBTAIR)

2024 2023
Note HK$000 HK$'000
b= FET TFAET
(Restated)
(E71)
Continuing operations FHRREER
Revenue W 5 26,918 16,231
Cost of sales and services HE MRS A AN 9 (26,608) (13,920)
Gross profit EF 310 2,311
Other income H s A 7 699 436
Other losses, net HthEse > $%8 8 (493) 61
Recognition of loss allowance for trade and B NEMEWRIEE IR E
other receivables Z WS (982) (1,867)
Administrative expenses THER 9 (11,354) (13,824)
Finance costs E DN 12 (23) (42)
Loss before tax PRIRBIESIE (11,843) (13,047)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frigfike, (Fis0) 13 16 (21)
Loss for the year from RESBEREEEZ
continuing operations TEEEE (11,827) (13,068)
Profit for the year from discontinued REBRIEREEK Y
operations KEE &N 14 4,950 1,352
Loss for the year KEEEIE (6,877) (11,716)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  Hfth2 & (FIsz) WA
Item that may be reclassified BEREEH A EEEREZ
subsequently to profit or loss: BE :
Exchange differences on translation of foreign #E BN EF 2 ERE5E
operations, net of nil tax MNRZMNIE (17) (50)
Reclassification of cumulative translation BN EBBREM D ERS
reserve upon deregistration of a foreign MEREE  NBRERE
operation, net of nil tax = 1,159
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the FEEHME2E %),/
year, net of tax WA > 30BRIRIE (17) 1,109
Total comprehensive expense rEEmMEAZ4REE
for the year (6,894) (10,607)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HEREmREMEEBAR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE2024%F 128318 IEFEE CUBTAHIR)

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
b= FET TAET
(Restated)
(E71)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: THIALTRELAEE (F58),
wF
Owners of the Company KABHEB A
— Continuing operations — PR EER (10,122) (10,004)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEREER 2,524 (104)
(7,598) (10,108)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR =
— Continuing operations — RHEREER (1,705) (3,064)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEKREER 2,426 1,456
721 (1,608)
(6,877) (11,716)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THATELEZE (X))
attributable to: A 4E%E -
Owners of the Company PiN/NETEZZS DN
— Continuing operations — FEKEER (10,131) (10,069)
— Discontinued operations — BRI ESER 2,524 1,055
(7,607) (9,014)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR =
— Continuing operations — HEREER (1,713) (3,049)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEKEER 2,426 1,456
713 (1,593)
(6,894) (10,607)
Loss per share from continuing and REFBEEXRBRELL
discontinued operations REEHEZEREE 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BARNEE (FREWL (0.16) (0.22)
Loss per share from continuing KEFECEEFE 2 SREBGE
operations 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BRI (SRRE) (0.22) 0.21)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — B&EMt Z MisE A4S M FEMER Z AR IBMD ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FaMBIRRER

As at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

72024128318 UGB THIR)

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FHET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YDEE ~ BB MR 17 3 6
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 248 1,153
Deferred tax assets EIEIRIEE & 28 = 151
251 1,310
Current assets MENEE
Inventories =FE 21 40 41
Trade and other receivables B 5 M EMEWRIE 22 2,107 13,427
Amount due from ultimate holding company FEW IR AR 2 718 23 4 2
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEW—RERRKB AR Z
MIE 23 1 1
Cryptocurrency iy 19 — —
Cash and bank balances REMIRITAE R 24 13,281 17,996
15,433 31,467
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EHAMES TR IE 27 4,086 13,013
Contract liabilities HaHEaE 25 227 1,340
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 226 839
Amount due to intermediate holding companies  FE{TFRIIER AT 2 FUIE 23 914 67
5,453 15,259
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FaMBRRR

As at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

72024128318 UGB THIR)

2024 2023

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Mi5E FHET TFET

Net current assets mEEEEFEE 9,980 16,208

Total assets less current liabilities HEERREERE 10,231 17,518
Non-current liabilities ERBEE

Deferred tax liabilities FILHRIBEE 28 5 172

Lease liabilities HEAaRE 18 = 226

5 398

Net assets HEZRE 10,226 17,120
Capital and reserves BARK#E

Share capital (&N 26 23,430 23,430

Reserves & (12,655) (5,048)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company KRB HEE NEnLER 10,775 18,382

Non-controlling interests El 2 (549) (1,262)

Total equity R ARRE 10,226 17,120

The consolidated financial statements on pages 105 to 199 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Sun Haitao
Director
EZE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

F105EF19BZLEMFBIRREN2025F3 528
AEEFEHETHTINEEFARRE

Wu Shan
E=30]
Director
EFE

ekt 2 Y sEmAR G M B iR R 2 AHAER 17
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEEmEHR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attributable to owners of the Company

HZE2024F 12831 HIEEE (LUBTHIR)

LN N
Share Foreign
capital — Capital Capital currency Non-
ordinary Share  contribution  redemption  translation Accumulated controlling
shares premium reserve reserve reserve  Other reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
B — X SMEIRE
LER i guba] TERE BOEE i HtifERE 2iER it ERRER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERL TEn TET TERL TEn TET TERL TEn TET
(Note 1) (Note ii) (Note iii) (Note v) (Note v)
(HizE) (Hizil) (fizkii) (fiziv) (Hizkv)
Balance at 1 January 2023 RABF1B1H 245 23430 3,466,638 9,777 1 116,559 (49) (3,588,960) 21,39 331 27,121
Loss for the year rEERR - - - - - - (10,108) (10,108) (1,608) (11,716)
Other comprenensive income REERMRERA
for the year = = = = 1,09 = = 1,09 15 1109
Total comprehensive income/lexpense) — REEZEHA/ (B%)
for the year fam - - - - 1,004 - (10,108) (9,014) (1,593 (10,607)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RABENEINHZER 2430 3,466,638 9,777 1 117,653 (49 (3,599,068) 18,382 (1,262) 17120
Attributable to owners of the Company
YNNI
Share Foreign
capital — Capital Capital currency Non-
ordinary Share contribution redemption  translation Other Accumulated controlling
shares premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
A — Bx  SMEARE
EER  RMEE  OIERE  ROHE s HftRE  RiEB Nt FERER &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAR TAR AT TAR TAR AT TAR TAR AT
(Note i) (Note ii)  (Noteii)  (Note iv) (Note v)
(HEi) (It zEii) (i sEiii) (HizEiv) (GE)
Balance at 1 January 2024 R0UE1B1HZ &8 23430 3,466,638 9,777 1 117,653 (49)  (3,599,068) 18,382 (1,262) 17,120
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (B8) /i = = = = = = (7,598) (7,598) 721 (6,877)
Other comprehensive expense FEEAMPERS
for the year = = = - 9) - - 9 8) (17)
Total comprehensive (expensel/income  AEE2E (B%) /BA
for the year an = = = - (9) - (7,598) (7,607) 713 (6,894)
Balance at 31 December 2024 RAUE12EIN A2 &5 23,430 3,466,638 9,777 1 117,644 (49)  (3,606,666) 10,775 (549) 10,226
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Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SEEmENR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE2024%F 128318 IEFEE CUBTAHIR)

The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued at a
premium. In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share premium account may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an
intermediate holding company.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share capital
of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the
additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE2024F 12831 HIEEE (LUBTHIR)

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E7)
cash flows from operating activities RETHMMBRERE
(Loss)/profit before taxation prET (B538) & A
From continuing operations HERSEXER (11,843) (13,047)
From discontinued operations BRI EER 4,950 1,352
(6,893) (11,695)
Adjustments for: EMTHZIEELAE !
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss RIET R B A 23 42
Interest income from bank deposits WITERZFEWA (315) (380)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENRKREBEZITE 3 19
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 445 904
Gain on disposal of AWS cloud services business HEAWSEREER 2
& (4,279) —
Recognition of loss allowance for trade and other — BZ & EMhEIFIEEE
receivables B2 1R 982 2,070
Release of exchange reserve to profit or loss due R E B QB MARRER
to deregistered company HEEER = 1,159
Loss on lease termination E&RIEZEBE 36 o
(9,998) (7,881)
Change in operating assets and liabilities: REEENABRES .
Increase in inventories FEEM — ©)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 REMEWIE
receivables B (Ehn) 9,401 (3,534)
Decrease in amount due to ultimate holding P RIRZERR AT 2 I8
company B (2) (620)
Decrease in cryptocurrency n=g %> — 564
Decrease in restricted cash ZIRBIREH D 156 —
Increase in amount due to intermediate holding R REER AT ZFIE
companies 0 853 67
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables B 5 N EHAMESTRIE
CRA) /1810 (8,875) 1,278
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities EH8E R, /1Bmn (581) 507
Net cash used in operating activities RE TR FEE (9,046) (9,622)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #ZE2024%F 128318 IEFEE CUBTAHIR)

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Note (Restated)
B =k (E7)
cash flows from investing activities I R&EZEFFAFRERE
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEAWSEREEE 2
AWS cloud services business REMAFEE 32 4,619 —
Interest received BUWH 2 315 380
Net cash generated from investing KREEBMBREEEE
activities 4,934 380
cash flows from financing activities RIEZEFIBRERE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERE 2 EARE 5D (416) (896)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEEEE A EZH (23) (42)
Net cash used in financing activities RIE EFHFABEREFEE (439) (938)
Net decrease in cash and RERREEEBYRDREE
cash equivalents (4,551) (10,180)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FYzRENIREEHEY
beginning of year 17,840 28,047
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, EXEE) 3%
net (8) (27)
cash and cash equivalents at the end X ZIRERRELEEY
of year 13,281 17,840
Analysis of the balances of cash and R&RIBEELEEYEGFZ
cash equivalents Akl
Cash and bank balances & M IRITHEER 13,281 17,840

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

ekt 2 Y sEmAR G M B iR R 2 AHAER 17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is at P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
2 March 2001.

In the opinion of the directors, the parent company is
51RENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)
and the ultimate parent company is 51 Credit Card Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the smart retail business.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
ceased and disposed of the AWS cloud services business.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group ceased
the lottery business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“HK$'000") except when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
the Company on 28 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

These notes provide a list of the material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to

all the vyears presented,

unless otherwise stated. The

consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting
of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries.

(@) Basis of preparation

(M)

(ii)

Compliance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“HKCO")

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure
requirements of the HKCO. In addition, the
consolidation financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (“the GEM Listing Rules”).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis.

(BB TTHR)

2

BT ERBE

A FRHRRZSFEEMHTRERERAZ
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EMBBRERSTER (BT ERABRZERER
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(@) #mEEZE

() EBTFEBYUERETAEIRS
B EER (TFELEER) 2
WEHRE

ERBZEEVBRERERES
AUBRESEHERRBFTART
BOIZIRBERERNE o LI 47
GMBRETE ST B
GEM&E#5 E MR8 (TGEM_E#R
Al MEZBRAME -

(i) ELREZEDG

??éﬁﬁf%iﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁiﬁi$%i%

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FETHHEHE (&£
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (@) WMNEE (ZF
(iii) Use of estimates and judgement (iii) 155t KA EFZ (#EFF

The preparation of financial statements in METEEAUBREITER

conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRS Accounting Standards that
have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 4.

ZHBRER > BEXRXEEEFREF
EHFVE ~ EETRER > MERE
BRZEAUKREE - BF 1K
ANFXZ 2|EHE o ILAGS
NAAR R R B BN E L A5 U
RERBITREAEEGEZS
BHEMERMEL » HAERER
B AN HMARER 2 EE
NEBBZREEFDAHZE
o BIRERPIBERILAGST
G

st AAERE R RN T IS M= -
W FeHhst 2 BT REEIFHE
S]ZHAR - RUTERPRIFEST S 1
EREEEEEINSE S SRR
& AEIFHIEST Z BB R R 2R
HAREFEST ©

EEEERAEBMBTREES

ZRIRFIEL B BREREEKN

FEZHAEG LGS T REEZ
BB EATE R ©

PEABZERERAT » 2024 FERS 115



2

116

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEZTHHEHE (&

POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (a) mEEE (B)
(iv) Amended standards adopted by the Group (iv) ZEEEFRHZENETER
The Group has applied the following amendments FEBBEMEB2024FE181H6
for the first time for their annual reporting period Az FERESHBERER TS
commencing 1 January 2024: CHI
. Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of . SR EUNE 1R BT

Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

4 Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current °

Liabilities with Covenants

o Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability o

in a Sale and Leaseback

— RBIERBEELE
R BB REE S92 HHEE
57 (20204F)

BEAETERB1RZIEST
— WA Z IR AR

EARAMBREERE 165
Z1E5] — BERMEIZHE
BiE

e Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — . BEEGAEAFETRREE

Supplier Finance Arrangements MR EENF7IR BT
— REBME LD

The application of the amendments to HKFRS KAFEERBEAVBRESS

Accounting Standards in the current year has had ZAZEBTHAEBNRAFEN

no material impact on the Group’'s financial BEEEZMBERIRTRER

position and performance for the current and prior NZEFEEWBRRFIE 2 INE

years and/or on the disclosures set out in these TWmEBE AL

consolidated financial statements.

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FETHHEHE (&£
POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued) (@) WMNEE (ZF
(v) New standards and interpretations not yet (V) [EREFARELZAIEER 22
adopted and effective &
Certain new accounting standards and BT gL EN
amendments to accounting standards have been BETEBM{E B ARE E20244F
published that are not mandatory for the year 128318 ILFERFIFER > A
ended 31 December 2024 and have not been SEINERZEFEERM -

early adopted by the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods

New standards and amendments beginning on or after
KT R ZEREAZ
#7384 B R E 5T EEHEARE LR
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
BEEGSENE2R BT — = ZH % 20251818

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Amendments to the Classification 1 January 2026
and Measurement of Financial Instruments

ERAMBREENEIRLEBMBRSERFISR B — H2@H T AL 20265F181H
5B Z 55T

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Contracts Referencing Nature- 1 January 2026
dependent Electricity

EARAUBREENFIRNREBMBIRESEAE7TREST — 202618 1H
R BB H AR BE R A E BB Y & A

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
ERBMBREELF18 — HEHREXZEIRIEE 2027F1H1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(v) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted and effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards mentioned below, the
management anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements”, which sets out
requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
"Presentation of Financial Statements”. This new
HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash
Flows" and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards,
will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the
future financial statements. The Group is in the
process of assessing the detailed impact of
HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)
2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHERMEME &2
POLICIES (Continueq)
(b) Subsidiaries (b) MIEBATE

(c)

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement
of financial position respectively.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(c)

(d)

(e)

120

Separate financial statements (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that makes
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company functional and the Group's presentation
currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in
a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on
a net basis within other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

] assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position,

o income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

] all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of
such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)
2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEGHHREBE @)
POLICIES (Continued)
(f) Impairment of non-financial assets (f) FEFEMEERE

Intangible assets (including cryptocurrency) that have an
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstance indicate that they
might be impaired.

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(8)

(h)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for
sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of a
single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
The results of discontinued operations are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Cryptocurrency

The Group receives and pays cryptocurrency for certain
transactions under smart retail business. Cryptocurrency
held by the Group through third-party custodian service
provider, which are accounted for as intangible assets
under cost model. The cryptocurrency held by the
Group is considered to have an indefinite life.
Accordingly, it is not subject to amortisation and tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired.

The Company has classified cryptocurrency on hand at
the end of a period as a current asset as management
has determined that cryptocurrency markets have
sufficient liquidity to allow conversion within the
Group’s normal operating cycle.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(UATTIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

(M)

(i)

(iii)

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in those to
be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through OCI or through profit or loss) and those
to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or 10ss.

2

¥ EE

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as a separate line item in profit or
loss.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses (“ECLS”) associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see
note 3(a)(ii) for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEME &
POLICIES (Continueq)
(i) Investments and other financial assets (i) BRENREMEHEE &)
(Continued)
(iv) Impairment (Continued) (iv) #1E (&

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEZTHHEHE (&
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets (i) RERHMEMEE (&)
(Continued)
(iv) Impairment (Continued) (iv) g (&
—  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) — EERBRAEEMN &)
—  existing or forecast adverse changes in — TEEEEREBAR
business, financial or economic THEBEEZEE

conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations,

— an actual or expected significant —
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant o
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results

RIBTREZRS M
BREERRZIRE
AR Z AR ;

BHBAKEXEZE
IR TRIRE B ;
%,

BEREHABRITHE
BEEZENDKRET
fEZEHAEE &
BEBATIRE 2 B

in a significant decrease in the HFE 2 EBAFHE

debtor's ability to meet its debt 1t o

obligations.
Irrespective of the outcome of the above Nom s L 45 R o
assessment, the Group presumes that the KREBHBRRENTRE
credit risk has increased significantly since FBE0AREERR R
initial recognition when contractual ) 9a B 8 LA SR K 2 3E A0
payments are more than 30 days past due, BRIEAEEERENAS
unless the Group has reasonable and 2 BERERAEMBENR

supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHERMEME &2
POLICIES (Continueq)
(i) Investments and other financial assets (i) RERHEMNWESREE (&)

(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment

(iv)

HE (A

EERBAEEGIN (&)

BEWL  WREHF LA
EHREEMREESER
REERR  RIAEBR
REVEESBRZEER
B 3 SR R IR0 o 1 7T &
BUT R RIEFH T AR
BESBREGSERR )
HENRRE ; i ERALE
BREE AIREAR
BITHGNRTRESE;
Kiii) EREHBRRTZ K
HANEHETREERLE
HISSEMABTHESHIR
EREEEZEN -

fHES T AZ AR
EEFRD RER (R
BEFERAER)  AlEE

grade” as per globally understood BERAZEFIAEBNKE
definitions. EERKE -
The Group regularly monitors the AEETHERAMUHER]

effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEREME &
POLICIES (Continueq)
(i) Investments and other financial assets (i) KERHMWEHEE (&)
(Continued)
(iv) Impairment (Continued) (iv) #1E (&

130

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for

— EBRZESR

MASEERBREEM
S AEERRERNIE
8B INEREIS Z B KL ER
T BBARNKAERY
2EMATEREA (BEE
£E) > BIBEEENEMS -

— [FERETREE

E-RUZHRENHZE
MEEZASHARRRER
BEEFNREER  &E
MEENFEEEERIE-
TMEEFLEEEREZ
BEBEUTEHZAR
REUE

@ BITAREBRAZE
REAFEHEE

(b) BEM > PIUWED
HBHAEM

© RAERAZHBEEE

economic or contractual reasons MEERABR 2L
relating to the borrower’s financial BREHNRE > BN
difficulty, having granted to the AEBEBRAREE
borrower a concession(s) that the BABERFGERZ
lender(s) would not otherwise EL

consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation,

(d) EBRAREEAWE
HHMPBEE ;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events: (Continued)

(e)  the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties; and

(f)  the purchase or origination of a
financial asset at a deep discount that
reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(LUETTHIR)
2 FEGHHERME &
() RERHMEMEE (&)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

()

(k)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
a weighted average method. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

()

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value.

The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See notes 2(i)
(iv) and 3(a)(ii) for a description of the Group's
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short term, high liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of

new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(UATTIR)

2 FEGFHERHEGE
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(m)

(n)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(0)

(p)

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the
reporting period. They are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax charge or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(i)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it
is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its
tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax
is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(p) Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)

(ii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and where the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(q) Employee benefit

(M)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick
leave that are expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations
in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Post-employment benefit

The employees of the Group are mainly covered
by various defined contribution pension plans. The
Group makes and accrues contributions on a
monthly basis to the pension plans, which are
mainly sponsored by the related government
authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such plans,
the Group has no other significant legal or
constructive obligations for retirement benefits
beyond the said contributions, which are
expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(r)

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHERMEME &2
POLICIES (Continueq)
(s) Revenue recognition (s) YnarESR

Revenue is recognised when goods or services is
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
goods or services may be provided over time or at a
point in time. Goods or services is provided over time if
the Group’s performance meets any one of the
following criteria:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability is recognised when a customer pays
consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before
the Group recognises the related revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FEFHHEME B)
POLICIES (Continueq)
(s) Revenue recognition (Continued) (s) WM (&

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it
recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

(M)

(i)

Provision of smart retail services

The Group engaged in smart retail business which
includes distribution, maintenance and technical
support of omni-channel payment devices and
software applications, provision of software
development services, provision of technical
consultancy services for cloud server service,
internet of things and SMS traffic service.

Revenue from the omni-channel payment services,
technical consultancy services for cloud server
service and SMS traffic service are charged based
on customers’ volume of usage such as amount
of payments processed, server usage and SMS
traffic volume, and are recognised when the
service is delivered to the customer. Therefore,
the Group is acting as an agent in the
transaction. The Group records the net amount
that it retains from such completed transaction as
revenue.

Revenue from the provision of software
development services and certain technical
consultancy services are recognised at point in
time when the service is rendered.

Provision of automotive culture business
Revenue from the automotive culture business is

recognised when customer take possession of and
accept the products.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(t)

Earnings/loss per share

(M)

(i)

Basic earnings/loss per share

Basic earnings/loss per share is calculated by
dividing:

o the profits/loss attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

Diluted earnings/loss per share

Diluted earnings/loss per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings/loss
per share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

o the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 FETHHEHE (&£
POLICIES (Continueq)
(u) Leases (Continued) (u 8 ~&

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

J where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received,

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for
leases held by the Group, which does not have
recent third-party financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the Group use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(u) Leases (Continued)

(v)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’'s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of twelve months or
less without a purchase option.

Interest income
Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost

calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(w) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

0]

(i)

(ii)

has control or joint control of the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(ii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or a joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continueq)

(w) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(Vi)

(Vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group.

(i

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Transactional currency exposures arise from
revenue or cost of sales and services by
operating units in currencies other than the unit’s
functional currency. Substantially all the Group’s
revenue and cost of sales and services are
denominated in the functional currency of the
operating units making the revenue, and
substantially all the cost of sales and services are
denominated in the operating unit's functional
currency. Accordingly, the directors consider the
Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency risk
being minimal, the respective quantitative
disclosures have not been prepared.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(M)

(i)

Market risk (Continueq)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to
interest rate risk. A reasonably possible change in
interest rate in the twelve months is assessed by
the Group; which could have immaterial change in
the Group's loss for the year and accumulated
losses. Changes in interest rates have no material
impact on the Group’'s other components of
equity. The Group adopts centralised treasury
policies in cash and financial management and
focuses on reducing the Group’s overall interest
expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is
relatively low.

credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
Group's credit risk mainly arises from cash and
bank balances, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, and amounts due from related
companies. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Management has policies in
place to monitor the exposures to these credit
risks on an on-going basis.

For cash and bank balances, they are all
deposited or traded with high quality financial
institutions without significant credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(UATTIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

credit risk (Continued)

Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 72% and 100% (2023: 13% and 38%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the smart retail
business segment.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring ECLs which permits the
use of a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivable has been
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

The Group recognised lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables carried at
amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities, or collectively assessing
them for likelihood of recovery based on ageing of
the balances with similar risk characteristics
taking into account the forward looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBRRERE (&)
(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) HBRAMREZER &
(ii)  credit risk (Continuead) (i) 1EEREE (#E)
Management reviews the recoverable amount of EIEES TS ERE ZEI
each individual trade receivable regularly, if any, FIE (W0/) 2 JWEs3E > UFE
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are R AU ([Cl S REFE ST B 50 2
recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In this BEE - At EEERRARE
regard, the management considers that the Bz EEREERBER- K
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced. The 20244 }2023F12B31B 2 &6
loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 BEEDNT

is illustrated as below:

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

TREARSIRE WEREE EREE
% HK$°000 HK$'000
% FTET FTET

As at 31 December 2024 1520245128318

Current (not past due) BNEA (G ER) — — —
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 0.5% 16 —
31-60 days past due BHAZ1ZE60H 44.6% 2 1
61-90 days past due BHR61ZE90H 100% 108 108
More than 90 days past due BHAEEE0H 100% 4,116 4,116

4,242 4,225
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)  credit risk (Continued)

(UATTIR)

3 MBEAKRERE (A

(@) MBERERZE (&

(i) FEmRE (&

Gross
Expected carrying LosSS
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARS 1B = REREE EiEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET TFET

As at 31 December 2023 1520235128318

Current (not past due) BNEA (GREEA) 4.4% 5,373 234
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 5.7% 3,318 188
31-60 days past due BHAZ1ZE60H 30.4% 754 229
61-90 days past due BHE61ZE90H 62.8% 358 225
More than 90 days past due BHBEE0H 100.0% 3,225 3,225
13,028 4,101

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within profit
or loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the
same line item.

EEGERNA W E S BUGR
12 QI B ZEWRRIE - BS
BERREZHReE (HPE
B EBAREREERENE

matal o

B 5 BWRIEZ RERBER B
25 SRERBRFER - LB
s 2 SRR HE R IREIAISt ARE
HEAR e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Credit risk (Continueq)

Deposit and other receivables and amount due
from related companies are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The Directors consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis for the
year. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk the Group compares risk of
a default occurring on the assets as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition. It considered the
available reasonable and supportive forwarding
looking information and the indicators that the
actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the
third party’s ability to meet its obligations. As at
31 December 2024, the loss allowance on other
receivables amounted to approximately
HKD1,255,000 (2023: HKD513,000).

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk
management rests with the Board, which has built
an appropriate liquidity risk management
framework to meet the Group’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows, and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

(BB TTHR)

3 MFHEERE

ER (&)

(a) MBAREE (&

(i)

(iip)

EEmE (%)
Breh Tﬁﬁﬂ&fklﬁu&ﬁl&%ﬁ
BABRIAR 128 B FEREER

%ajzmﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁfa‘éréﬂaﬁi )
REEERRBEMNGBERUKRE
BAIBIBIME o ERHAV AR
REEREREHZ AN > U
MEREERRETRHEAIREE
me AL EERMES KIBIG
m> AEBBEERRS HRE
FENZ BEERERERH
ZENRGETIEE c EEEA
EEZEBENAS N IS
BRUNEREERE = H BT
HETZENDBESARE(L 22
5 BB R 2 B TER
BARHE ZIERE 112024 5F
128318 » EfEWFEIEZ E51E
B 85 49 731,255,000 7T (2023
£ 1 513,000 7T) °

REELEE

EEgHRBESRBREEER
BREML WERILIABZRBE
TRBEERE > UnErER
2 PN R EENRE
BEBEEK-.

FEEEBERTEZMHEE 5
BEERARERRESRE I
Bh<smEEEBEZIRE
UCED > BEBILEIE RSB SRS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based

(BB TTSR)

3 MBEAKRERE (A

(@) MBERERZE (&

(iii) FTEBEZmE (F

FREREHR  AEEEREOR
BN EZ SR ARG

on the contractual undiscounted payments, was RO
as follows:
Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted carrying
on demand 1-2 years  cash flows amounts
—ERH BHRBR
BREX —ERE HERSEH MEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FHET
At 31 December 2024 120245128318
Non-derivative FTESHER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMENTE 4,086 = 4,086 4,086
Lease liabilities HEaB 231 = 231 226
Amount due to intermediate  EEfTPRIERAT 2
holding companies M 914 = 914 914
5,231 — 5,231 5,226
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBRAKRERE (&
(Continued)
(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MBRAMREZE (&
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) TEEZEE (&
Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or on undiscounted carrying
demand 1-2 years cash flows amounts
—FR BHREI
BEK —EME RERBER HERRTEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET TET FHET
At 31 December 2023 1202351283180
Non-derivative financial FTESRHER
liabilities
Trade and other payables 5 REAMENTIE 13,013 = 13,013 13,013
Lease liabilities HE&R 867 231 1,098 1,065
Amount due to an e — R A E
intermediate holding ZF1E
company 67 — 67 67
13,947 231 14,178 14,145
(b) capital management (b) BEFXEE
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEEEEEAZBERRELAEH
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going BEIFERE > UARRIEHELSRNAE
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and MIF M EREN D > WHEREBLLZER
benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an LU BEEEERA
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BT AEE RS > AEENER
Group may adjust the amount of the bank borrowings BIRTTERNKT FRREZEEEEE
and dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to BREREBREES  BTHRIEEEE
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce LURBAMETS ©
debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HEEREKER (&)

(Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation

The Group has no significant financial instruments other
than trade and other receivables, amount due from
ultimate holding company, amount due from a fellow
subsidiary, cash and bank balances, trade and other
payables, lease liabilities, amount due to ultimate
holding company and amount due to intermediate
holding companies. The carry amounts of these
balances approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial
impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(a) Provision to the ECL allowance on trade
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, basing on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

(BB TTHR)

5 =

AEEAEBZ W OMWT

2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Revenue from contracts with customers FHHERFEHREEDNFE1555
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HERNZEREHNKE
Provision of smart retail services RHEETERS 26,749 16,231
Provision of automotive culture business RMEREER 169 —
26,918 16,231

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

MEFSHNNEERNFEORFTZ
R 7B

A B O B 5 B T IS S B B 1558 5 121
B ETRE S AEAR KA B
o B A REAEEERT AN (R
HiHRA—ERTE) BETHSRBEOES
B A RS 2 R B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the Board of the Company, being the
CODM, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

For the smart retail operation, the information reported to the
CODM s further categorised into different service provisions,
each considered as a separate operating segment by the
CODM. For segment reporting purpose, the CODM considered
that these individual operating segments share similar
economic characteristics and centralized resource allocation.
These individual operating segments have been aggregated
into a single reportable segment.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
disposed of its business in AWS cloud services, which was an
operating segment included in smart retail business as
previously reported. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group ceased its business in lottery business.
These business are classified as discontinued operations,
which are described in more detail in note 14.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segment under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

continuing operations

— Smart retail business — provision of new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated
software service platform to chain retailers and
merchants, and extended services such as cloud
services, omni-channel payment services and SMS
marketing services, etc.

— Automotive culture business — engaging in buying and
selling various goods.

Discontinued operations

— AWS cloud services business — provision of cloud
storage and computing services.

—  Lottery business — development of computer system
and provision of technical consultancy services market.

PEABZERERAT » 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)
6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 NEEHHE)
(@) Segment revenue and results (a) PER=EKRESR

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and MR 2RDEI D2 AERZ

160

results by reportable segment:

LSTISE S =Payiig

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RREEER BRLLEEEH
Smart retail Automotive culture Lottery AWS cloud
business business Subtotal business services husiness Subtotal Total
BETERR BRXER gt YEER AWSEMRE %5 gt @it
2024 N3 204 03 2024 A3 2024 N3 204 03 2024 A3 2024 023
HK$'000  HKS000 HKS'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKSO00 HKS'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS000
TEr TEn TEn TEx TEn TExn TEm TEx TEn  TEr TEn  TEn TEm TEn
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E3) (E5) (E3) (E5)
Segment revenue from external  ERIRENIEEZ
customers recognised: HElE:
— over time — K-RERER - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
— paint in time —KE-KY 2,749 16231 169 - 26918 16231 = 2191 5780 2191 5780 29109 20M
Revenue from extemal customers — RENBEE 2 K& 2,749 16231 169 - 6918 18 = — 2191 5780 2191 5780 29109 22011
Segment (loss)/profit HE(58) /57 (3928 (6.29) 2 — (3920 (6290 = (462) 490 2974 490 2512 (3436)  (3778)
Bank interest income FGEIET N 315 3 = 1 315 30
Other income and other (losses)/ Bl AR (55%8) /
gains, net WE5E (109) 0] 4460 (1061 4351 (1169
Central administration costs PRAHAA (8123) (1,132 = - 8123 013
(Loss)/profit before tax BiRE (F1) /57 (11,843)  (13047) 4,950 1352 (6,893) (11695

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2023: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are

EXERzHBERTEREINBER
ZWEE o ANFE MR D HEHE (2023
FiE -

,&?ﬁﬁj\*EZ‘%%ﬂ&“éﬁiW%‘ﬂﬁﬁ?iZF%

the same as the Group’s accounting policies described EEHR—H - 248 (§518) /5 F
in note 2. Segment (loss)/profit represents the loss/ %a%n HELEZBEER &8 (EES A
profit incurred by each segment without allocation of IRITHERF B~ Hh U A R H fh (&

interest on bank deposits, other income and other
(losses)/gains and central administration costs. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

18) e MR RITEAA) o ThFE
BRARRDERBEFGMEEZRLEE
REREZHRZIENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

(UATTIR)

6 NEEHGE

(b) DEEERER

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
REREEY BRLAEER
Smart retail Automotive culture Lottery AWS cloud
business business Unallocated Subtotal business services business Subtotal Total
BRRERY BRXES 2R gt pAE S AWSEMRH £ gt @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS$'000 HKS000 HKS'000  HKS'000
TEr TEr TEx TEn TEr TEr TExn TEn FEm TEr TEr TEr TEm TEn TEm  TEx
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E5)) (E5)) (&5 (E5)) (&%)
Segment assets HREE 1,854 380 304 - = - 2188 380 - - = 1035 = 1035 2158 14216
Corporate and unallocated ~ SERAXHEEE
assets 13,526 18561 13,526 18,561 - - - = = — 13526 18561
Consolidated assets GREE 15,684 2245 = 035 15684 777
Segment liabilities HEafR 1,230 2113 302 - - - 153 2113 - - - 9,589 - 9589 1582 1232
Corporate and unallocated ~ ERFAEEE
liabilties 3926 3295 392 329 - - - - - - 39 329%
Consolidated liabilties GaBR — 9589 5458 15657

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities.

5,458 6,068

AEEDBERFAREDBEENRER

s FREEESNEK
Hh kD ECRE
o5 X

s FBE&RHBDE

ERLED

PRt R E E R

NS
EREDR

E|

RE

|

i

HAKRDBCARER M S BRI

PEABZERERAT » 2024 FERS

161



162

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other segment information

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(B TTHIR)
6 NEEM(E

(c) Hthta@EEHN

Continuing operations Discounted operations
RAEEER BRIEEEH
Smart retail Automotive culture Lottery AWS cloud
business busingss Unallocated Subtotal busingss services business Subtotal Total
BETERR BRNIER AR It YEEK AWSEREEH It A
2024 203 204 13 2024 Y] 2024 203 204 13 2024 Y] 2024 203 204 13
HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000 HK$'000  HKS000 HKS'000  HKSOO0 HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS'000
Tén TEr Thm TEr TEn TR TEr TR TEn TEr  TEnm T TEm  TEn  TEm  TEr
Restated) [Restatec) Restated) [Restatec) (Restatec)
(7) (7) () (7) (E7)
Depreciation of property, plant 1%\ BER&AE
and equipment INE 3 19 - - - - 3 19 - - - - - - 3 19
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEEINE
assets 205 618 = - = - 205 618 = - = - = - 205 618
Unallocated depreciation of FOEFRELE
right-0fuse asses bt} = = = = 20 86 20 8 = = = S - S 20 8
Total depreciaton of rigntofuse  EBEBEIFE
assets a8 445 904 - - 45 904
Interest on lease liabities HEREZAIE 5 2 = = = = 5 2 = = = = = = 5 k)
Unallocated interest on lease ~ ®SEREEEZ
fiabites FIE = = = = 18 0 18 0 = = = = = = 18 10
Totl interest on leese liebiides  BE&EZFIE
a5 23 Iy - - 3 Y
Recogniton of loss alowance for ~ EZREMRE
irade and other receivebles TEEEEE
ZBR 982 1867 - - - - 982 1867 - 203 - - - 203 982 2010
Addltions o non-current assets  SrEEEBEE 184 119 = = = 480 184 1478 = = = = = = 184 1478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas
— the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by
location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

(BB TTSR)

6 NEEHGE

(d) tE&EH

FEEZEZBETERURMEME — 5

BN &EH o

AEEREBMES D ZRBIIDE
FzWmh&EEREME D ZIER
BEEZEAMFBUOT

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

RBEIMNEBE R Z I ERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FET FET
(Restated)
(E7)
Continuing operations FHERE X
The PRC FRE 26,918 16,231 31 699
Hong Kong 5% = — 220 460
26,918 16,231 251 1,159
Discontinued operations BARIEREER
The PRC FRE 2,191 5,780 = —
Hong Kong 55 = = = —
29,109 22,011 251 1,159

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax
assets.

EXERFERBDEEZERNTREE
FRIEMMSHETBREEREEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 SEEN(E

(e) Information about major customers (e) FEERZEN
Revenue derived from customers that accounted for FE o HAREBBKGEI0%TULZE
10% or more of the Group's total revenue during the PINEIEENT :

year are disclosed below:

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(Restated)
(E751)
Smart retail business HETEER
Customer A ZHRA 15,153 4,619
customer B ZFAB N/A RER* 3,170
Customer C EEC 4,107 N/A iE Y
# The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the L AEFEYER M S AR E AR 2 10% A E ©
total revenue of the Group.

OTHER INCOME 7 HgA
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(%))
Bank interest income BTH BEUA 315 379
Government grant BT ED — 2
Tax concession (note (i) HRUEE (FFEE(3) — 55
Service fee income BRFEE WA 363 —
Sundry income ETEWLA 21 —
699 436
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

OTHER INCOME (Continueq)

Note:

(i) It represents the tax concession revenue

FEMBHmRMEE

generated by the policy of

additional deduction of input value-added tax.

From 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2023, taxpayers in the production
and living service industries are allowed to add 10% of the current
deductible input value-added tax to offset the value-added tax payable.
As the Group’s businesses meet the requirements of the policy, those

businesses are eligible for the tax benefit.

(UATTIR)

Hithit A ()

BE -

0] EIBERETR R ERNMN FHEBBUERTZ R 2 IR WE R
WA e

H2019F4818E20235F 128318 » AFFEER
EEMERFERMIRAZRE RN ERER
HERN 5T 10% » LR FEANIB(EIREE - AN AEE
EBHOZBRER > 2EEBI=ZZZMRE
Ho

OTHER LOSSES, NET 8 HfthEsig » 358
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E5))
Net foreign exchange losses P E5 18 9 58 (457) (61)
Loss on lease termination HERIEZEIE (36) —
(493) 61)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

9 EXPENSES BY NATURE 9 BMEISZHEZ
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(Restated)
(E7)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense BMERARBY 2 FEM A
(included in cost of sales and services) (Bt ASHE M ARFS AR AX) 168 —
External technical service fees INER AT AR TS & 26,406 10,943
Auditor's remuneration TZ BTN
— Audit services — BIZRTS 850 1,120
— Non-audit services — IEBZART 250 780
Employee benefit expenses EERMER 3,353 8,701
Directors’ emoluments EEM= 3,119 2,461
Total staff costs BE TR 6,472 11,162
Short-term leases expenses FOHATEER — 1
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #J% ~ Fg /S &R 2 & 3 19
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 445 904
Other expenses H 3,368 2,815
Total cost of sales and services and tHENIRB A NITHE B
administrative expenses “ERE 37,962 27,744
10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERMEHR
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Restated)
(E5))
Salaries and other benefits in kind FreNEMEYER 3,083 6,863
contributions to retirement benefits schemes B K2 F) 5t B 251 852
Discretionary bonuses B TEAT 19 986
3,353 8,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 10 {REFEHMER (&

(a) Pensions — defined contribution plans (@) BHhE — REME
No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year FABES) BRI » M EREE
and no forfeited contributions were available at the B R IE AT B LUHB AR SRR o

year-end to reduce future contributions.

Contributions totalling approximately HK$1,900 (2023: REXR ERRARESZAHAEHD

HK$15,000) were payable to the fund at the year-end. 1,900 75 (20234 : 15,0008 7T) ©
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EBEEHEES

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in RAEEEREmaHmEEFR WH

the Group, two (2023: two) were directors of the (202345 1 W) BEANBZEE » Hbl

Company whose emoluments are included in note 11. BT o BR =% (2023%F 1 =

The emoluments of the remaining three (2023: three) %) BREFEEZMSNT

individuals were as follows:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Salaries and other benefits in kind FreMHMEYEF 1,036 855
Contributions to retirement benefits BB FHEER
schemes 36 57
1,072 912
Number of individuals
A
2024 2023
Emoluments band i & E
Nil-HK$1,000,000 2-1,000,0007& 7T 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors” emoluments for the year are disclosed pursuant to
the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2023:

(BB TTHR)

11 EFME

FEEZEFMEHRBEBERZGEM EHR
AN EBRBMEPIIKE -

MA% (20234 : Ait) EFZAHEM ZM

five) directors were as follows: FUTF
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
e REM BRIAE A
e BYIEFH 1R TE4L LEN Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FHET FAET FHET
2024 2024%
Executive directors BITES
Sun Haitao %iEE = 714 1,191 18 1,923
Wu Shan S — 408 451 17 876
Independent non-executive BIIFHITES
directors
Song Ke Ry 100 = = = 100
Yu Tat Chi Michael RES 120 = = = 120
Liu Jia 2= 100 = = = 100
320 1,122 1,642 35 3,119
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 11 EEME (&)
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
FreRHEHAM BIREF T2
wE  BYEHN MiBIE4L B fast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FET FET FET
2023 20235
Executive directors HITES
Sun Haitao %iEE = 714 704 18 1,436
Wu Shan R — 408 282 15 705

Independent non-executive BIIJEHITES

directors
song Ke R 100 - = - 100
Yu Tat Chi Michael FES 120 = = = 120
Liu Jia 2 100 - = - 100
320 1,122 986 33 2,461
No payment was made to directors as compensation for the B E2024F K 2023FE12B31HIEEE » i
early termination of the appointment during the years ended EOEEZNRBEAZE IR BEREE -
31 December 2024 and 2023.
No payment was made to directors or receivable by the FEELE2024F N2 2023F 12831 HIEFE - #]
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the EOEEXNEAFIERERRIE > EAMN
Company for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. ARRNBHMAR LB 2182 5EE) ©
No compensation was paid during the financial year or FREE 2024 F 522023 F 12831 HIEEFE - #
receivable by directors or past directors for the loss of office EUAERTARELADEENBEHELEE
as a director of any member of the Group or of any other AR ERNBEEET 2 (M H AR 7S B
office in connection with the management of the affairs of MEESENFEEEZ N ERMBFENE
any member of the Group distinguishing between contractual BRERZTE (BRREOREREBEREM
and other payments for the years ended 31 December 2024 ) °

and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No payment was made to any third-parties for making
available directors’ services during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, bodies corporate controlled by and connected
entities with such directors during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

(BB TTHR)

11

EEME (&

B E2024FE % 2023F12B31HIEEE » 1
EIRAERRBMEEAE = A AFIE o

REZE2024F K% 2023F 12831 B ILEE »
BUEE - TZSETERNZEAEBNZ
LEECHEERATRARBZER £
BRNEMZS o
REE2024F K% 2023F 12831 HIEEFE > #]
BEENEFIRENETMAFTNZ 28

FINANCE COSTS 12 BAFER A
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEGZMERE 23 42
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)
INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 13 Fr5RiiE%R. (FX)
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Deferred income tax IREFRSIA
(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax assets BILARIBE = (R2) 10

(Note 28) (Pf$5E28) (114) 151
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax liabilities — IEEFRIBEERD (L)

(Note 28) (HMI5E28) 130 (172)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisMige (Bi) 16 (21)
Income tax credit/(expense) is attributable to: LU R IEFEL Z FREH

R (k) :
— Continuing operations — HEREER 16 1)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEKEER — —
16 21)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for both years.

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate
Income Tax (“CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years. No provision for CIT has been made for both
years.

Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Hangzhou
Zhongtuo”) qualifies as a “Software Enterprise” which is
entitled to an exemption from the CIT for the first two years
and 50% reduction for the next three years from such
entity’s first profitable year.

PEABZERERAT » 2024 FERS

AR EAMEFEASBLEREEEEN
BEVER AT B EHE BT ERIEL
Bifh o

RIBEPEIRITHRE - PEIM B AR WIE S
EZEXRMRBHR(TERMERDMNESR
25% © s MBS E A I HE B 1 X PSR IF T
Bifl o

TINFIREBRXBERATE (MUNREL) 7
etz RHERE  BEEEERERMNE
EiE > BENEMERRHEXRAERLAER
= FH50% B E RS

171



13

172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 13
(Continued)

The tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

PSR, (FA%) (&)

AFEEZRIE (ER) AR GEEaME

eI ARFEERBIEGIEZHROT -
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FET
(Restated)
(87))

Loss before tax from continuing operations REFELSE LR 2 FRE

18 (11,843) (13,047)
Profit before tax from discontinued operations ZRE B4R IELE T
FR 10 Bl A 4,950 1,352
Loss before tax for the year REFERRAIEE (6,893) (11,695)
Tax at applicable tax rate 25% (2023: 25%) RIRE AR ZE25%
(20234 : 25%) 5t &~
1| (1,723) (2,924)
Tax effect on different tax rate of group RHMBE ZHEEEE EE
entities operating in other jurisdictions BRETANEZRIEBEFE 93 64
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax eI 2R IBER &
purpose 736 1,914
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax FERBAZRIEBERE
purpose (136) (196)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR 2 MIBEIE 2 I8
T 1,014 1,163
Income tax (credit)/expense Frigi (E%) B (16) 21

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$12,381,000 (2023:
HK$15,697,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future
taxable profits of that subsidiary is due to expire within five
years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$84,587,000 (2023: HK$77,550,000) available for offset
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

FREHER  AEEEREZHEESBLUSL
e K& 2 B AR Z st RBBRIBEER
#912,381,0003% 7T (20234F : 15,697,0003%
7o) 0 AIEIRIHZ M B A B 2 R R FE R MR
Ao KAERER  MAEBEGETREA
2 T8 K5 18 4984,587,0007 7T (20234
77,550,000 7t) > AIEIKEE A EIRAAAE S 2
RAEF] o AR BETE S AR A E AR - 85
TR LSt R B AR IEA B IRIERIE
BE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14 BRIERESET
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group FREE2024FE1283MHIEEE » KEREE
disposed its AWS cloud services business in the PRC. During HSH B Z AWSERFEZETE o FLEI = 20235
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has ceased its ANHIEFE  AEBSKRLEHEHKFE
lottery business in the PRC. The results of the discontinued FEETR BRIEKEERNEE2024F K
operations for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 2023F12BNHIEFEZEENTXET o

are presented below.

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
(Restated)
(E75)
Revenue g 2,191 5,780
Cost of sales and services THE MRS A (1,446) (1,988)
Gross profit EF 745 3,792
Other income and other gains/(losses), net HWg A Bk,
(B518) » 3% 4,460 (1,160)
Loss allowance for trade and other B 5 MEMEWFIBEEE
receivables B1E — (203)
Administrative expenses THER (255) (1,077)
Profit before tax PR FI R 4,950 1,352
Income tax expense Fri3tM — —
Profit for the year EEEEF 4,950 1,352
Other comprehensive income TEEHMEEBA
for the year = 1,159
Total comprehensive income arises from REDARIERKEEES
discontinued operations for the year TEEZmMBALEE 4,950 2,511
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT
Other income: Hg A -
Bank interest income RITHEUWA — 1
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14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

174

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

14 BRLEEERT (&

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
(Restated)
(%)
Other gains/(losses), net: Hitzm,~ (B518) » 7$%58 ¢
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) fERUWE (E518) 58 181 (1,161)
Gain on disposal of AWS cloud services HEAWSERFEES 2
business (Note 32) Yoz (MIEE32) 4,279 —
4,460 (1,161)
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAET
(Restated)
(E75)
Expenses by nature: BEBEE D2 RXE
External technical service fees SNERIS T AR TS & 1,446 1,988
Employee benefit expenses BEEEMNER 209 860
Short term lease expense SHATEER S = 62
Other expenses H 46 155
Total cost of sales and services and THE MR AN ITE F
administrative expenses 48%8 1,701 3,065

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations

BRI EXBREEZIRERBFHNOT !

are as follow:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAETT TET
Net cash used in operating activities RS EEPTRARESF5 (698) (403)
Net cash used in investing activities KREEHMAREEEE — (M

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents in B ILEEEFRRES N
discontinued operations REEEBYRD FEE (698) (404)
# The carry amounts of assets and liabilities of the AWS cloud services # AWSERBEBNEHERRzEERAGREE

business at the date of disposal are disclosed in note 32.

FHMIEE32EE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss/earning per share is calculated by dividing the
loss/profit of the Group for the year attributable to owners of

(UATTIR)

15 #BiREEE

BRERBE BN REASES ARG
FEBFRNEEGARUENEETEERE

the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary T HETE -
shares in issue during the year.
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
(Restated)
(&%)
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the RABVHER AE (518)
Ccompany el
— From continuing operations — REFBEREER (10,122) (10,004)
— From discontinued operations — REBRILKEEE 2,524 (104)
(7,598) (10,108)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 2%47& 3888 2 M T 58
issue ('000) (FA) 4,686,048 4,686,048
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SREX (BB B
(HK cents per share) (BRAEA)
— From continuing operations — REFEREER (0.22) 0.21)
— From discontinued operations — REBRILERE X 0.06 0.01)
(0.16) (0.22)

The dilutive loss per share is the same as the basic loss per
share for both 2024 and 2023 as there are no potential
ordinary shares in issue for both 2024 and 2023.

16 DIVIDENDS

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

FH7S20244F 2023 F W E B T B T @
B% > #2024 X 2023 FE 2 SR EEEAES
AR B A ESIBAEE o

1 6 HQ l%\

AT G E 2024 F 220235128 31H
EEETRTMAKRE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

176

17 Y% - BENKE

Furniture, Computer and

fixtures and office Leasehold
fittings equipment improvements Total
Rith - RBER B&
#%E EIYNES HEMEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Cost (D&
Balance at 1 January 2023 120231 BB 2 48R 145 798 1,413 2,356
Written off i il (120) - (120)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZBFE

differences - 2 - )
Balance at 31 December 2023 and $2023E 128318 &

1 January 2024 20241 B A 2 kR 145 676 1,413 2,234
Effect of foreign currency exchange — EREFFZE

differences = (1) — (1)
Balance at 31 December 2024 12024F 12831 B 2 &8 145 675 1,413 2,233
Accumulated depreciation and R ERAE

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2023 120231 B1H 2 45 6% (145) (773) (1,413) (2,331)
Depreciation expense ERS - (19) - (19)
Written back on written off (R 85 5 (o] = 120 = 120
Effect of foreign currency exchange  EREBFE

differences — 2 — 2
Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1520235128318 &

1 January 2024 20241 B 1A 2 &6k (145) (670) (1,413) (2,228)
Depreciation expense MERY — (3) — 3)
Effect of foreign currency exchange = ERZEFE

differences — 1 — 1
Balance at 31 December 2024 1202412831 B 2 &8 (145) (672) (1,413) (2,230)
Carrying amounts IREE
Balance at 31 December 2024 1202412831 B 2 &8 = 3 = 3
Balance at 31 December 2023 1202312831 2 &8k = 6 . 6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Useful lives

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

e Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years

e Computer and office equipment 3-5 years

Over the shorter of term
of lease or 5 years

e Leasehold improvements

LEASES

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

(UATTIR)

17

18

Y%~ S Nt (&

A A 1A

WERBERESE  WRHEMGS I EASE
HANEREMANEGEESE GORETEREE)
mr:

o b REBENEE 3ESEF
o BRENMMAERM 3E5F
o THEYEREE HEHESF

(UBEE R %)
HE

RGEMBRRARETZEEE

mEMBRRRERU T EEEER £

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Leased properties HEYE 248 1,153

Lease liabilities HEaR
Current TREN 226 839
Non-current JEMED = 226
226 1,065
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(BB TTHR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

LEASES (Continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

The movements of the right-of-use assets of lease properties
were as follows:

18 #HE (&

RGEMBRARERZEE (B

HEMXERAREEZEISHWT !

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TAET

At 1 January K118 1,153 385

Additions NE 184 1,678

Early termination of lease IRATARIEAEE (641) =

Depreciation expenses ERX (445) (904)
Effect of foreign currency exchange fE R ERER

differences (3) (6)

At 31 December 128318 248 1,153

At 31 December 2024, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate applied to the lease liabilities was 5.3% (2023: 4.75% to
5.3%).

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operation.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year
(2023: 1 to 2 years), but may have extension and termination
options as described below. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash outflow
for leases was approximately HK$439,000 (2023:
HK$1,001,000).

712024128310 - HEGBEBERAZAEA
ERANFEKA53% (20234F 1 4.75%F
5.3%) °

FEMEFE  sEREREEERENRAE -
HESKFTILZBEEHRA1E (202345 : 1
E26F) - BRIRERAR TXPRAMZEHA R AR 1E
BER - MO REREEER TS
[EMER TR R {1 o 12 788 TE AE HA Ko 4 S T R BH
HEZRER  *EERAANZERLE
EGHI PSRBT Z B o

HE2024FE12831HILEEE > HERSRALE
4ERB A £439,00078 75 (20234 © 1,001,000
7o) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

18 LEASES (Continued) 18 HE (&)
Amounts recognised in the consolidated REZEMBIRRREDZEER (B)
statement of financial position (Continued)
The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows: AEEREEHEA/ANT
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Within 1 year R—FA 226 839
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEREMERN — 226
226 1,065
19 CRYPTOCURRENCY 19 MEEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Cryptocurrency nEgk
Held on exchange institutions KR ZEEFE
— USD Tether ("USDT") — ETREK
(TE=EEH ) — —*
J Less than HK$1,000. e D HE1,0008 7T ©
Cryptocurrency held by the Group has been assessed based AEBREZNEEBERRBRENERERE
on each type of cryptocurrencies for impairment testing. The S E RS - ZEEFMEREK 20
Group carries out their impairment testing by comparing the WOl 28 8 A AR B LB LUEITRERIE o
recoverable amounts of cryptocurrencies to their carrying Er e ERERREER » SHERBER
amounts. An impairment loss will be recognised when the B EIETREEESREREE WA
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, while HERWER « WmERNEEBHRHEmRR
a gain will not be recognised even when the recoverable BERNLEZMERESNREERERS TIU
amount is higher than the carrying amount. A gain will only TSR o

be recognised if the cryptocurrency is disposed of, assuming
the proceeds from disposal at that time is higher than its
carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

CRYPTOCURRENCY (Continued)

The recoverable amount of each type of cryptocurrencies are
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal. In
determining the fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group consider accessibility
to, and activity within those markets in order to identify the
principal cryptocurrency markets for the Group. The fair value
of USDT traded in active markets (such as trading and
exchange platforms) is determined based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. Therefore, the fair value used for assessment of
recoverable amount in impairment tests is determined as
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for USDT (Level
1).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group carried out impairment
tests for USDT. Based on these impairment tests, the
recoverable amount of USDT was close to its carrying
amounts of approximately HK$100, therefore no impairment
loss was recognised.

(BB TTHR)

19

&

B (#E)

An:

E

BENEEBZ KRBT EDREAAEE
RMEENAEE - REBEAAEER &5
B AERE R BTG 0 BEAEEEEREZ
FHHEZ A RMRERERE » UHEREEE
ZEEMBEETG - TEETSE PINE
BEMRZFR) LEEZREBZANEE
DEFEBREHRZTHRERETE - MR ZF
PERRERRE AT SRESE
B MZSERRBEATEEERELER
EITZHHRS o Bt AREREF RN
SHEPREIERZ AR BESEESREE
ERRTS L2 RE RERAR) (F14R) -

BE2023F12831H » AEEYREEET
BEAS - RIEZERERNS > FEBZ A
WElS BRI HREEL 1008 T > Bt > I
mIEDREEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 #EfHZIISo &M T A

The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEEREUTEMITA
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Financial assets: TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RN A T EC EMEE
Trade and other receivables 85 MEHMEWRIE 1,480 11,188
Amount due from ultimate holding company — FEUREKRIZRR AT 2 HIE 4 2
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary El—ERRNEBELTZ
;IE 1 1
Cash and bank balances R& MIRITH R 13,281 17,996
14,766 29,187
Financial liabilities: THMERE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost g AEr sREaE
Trade and other payables B REMENRIE 4,086 13,013
Lease liabilities HEaE 226 1,065
Amount due to intermediate holding EENPREZERAEZ
companies ;I8 914 67
5,226 14,145
The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the AEE@E BT ERM SBRR
financial instruments is discussed in note 3. M EE3F R E & ©
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the RERAFRZEAEEREMOA LMEES
reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of MEEZIREME -
financial assets mentioned above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

INVENTORIES 21 &
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Finished goods S o 40 41

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$168,000
(2023: HK$NIl). These were included in cost of sales and

FREE2024F 1283 HEFERISARY
FE4%4168,000787T (20234 : TE7T) » B
st A E MARFE A A o

Services.
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 B NMHEHMEWKWRIE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Trade receivables B 5 WIS 4,242 13,028
Less: Loss allowance of trade receivables B B ENERIESEEE (4,225) (4,101)
17 8,927
Deposits and other receivables s M EMEWFIE 2,718 2,774
Less: Loss allowance of deposits and other B REMEMEREIE
receivables [ Ei=Ee g (1,255) (513)
1,463 2,261
Prepayments B FRIE 627 2,239
Total trade and other receivables B 5 N HMEWFIE42EE 2,107 13,427
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for settlement within 30
(2023: 30) days and therefore all classified as current. Trade
receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Details about the Group’s
impairment policies and the calculation of the loss allowance
are provided in notes 2(i) and 3(a)(ii).

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective invoice date and net of
loss allowance:

(UATTIR)

22

B 7 RhHEHMEWRIE (&

BERWREAREEXBEETHESR
IR MR E R ZFER - ZEFERE—
ART30 (20234 : 30) HREIMIEE » RAitt2
BRBRRE - B BUGRIBEN D REGEM
RESHEER  FRIFHEIERRERD
FLRERTARAANBERES - ZEEFE
BZRWHREZBNRBNENRERE
Ft HRER RN RAIRB I AT E -
BRAEBRRERRRBERFEAEDEZ
SHIB R Y EE 2() K2 3(a)(ii) ©

LURTh#RE 8 D 2 B S BRUGRIEZ 94
DDREEZDRRNBGEEFREY)

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT TAETT
0-30 days 0ZE30H — 5,139
31-60 days 312 60H 16 3,130
61-90 days 61290H 1 525
Over 90 days #BiB90H = 133
17 8,927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBHmRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BB TTHR)

22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

184

(Continued)

Movements of the Group's loss allowance of trade and other

receivables are as follows:

22 B NREHMEWRIE (2

FEBB S MNAMBRFIREZ HEREGRES
mr:

(a) Trade receivables (a) BZEWMRIE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TAET

Balance at 1 January 1B 18 Z&E5R 4,101 2,805
Recognition of loss allowance for the FREBEERE ZESR

year 215 1,349

Effect of foreign currency exchange bR ERETE
differences (91) (53)
Balance at 31 December K128318 2 &8k 4,225 4,101
(b) Deposits and other receivables (b) ¥ERHMEWKRRIE

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT TET

Balance at 1 January R1B1H 2z &8 513 1,455

Written off of loss allowance ESE B e — (1,448)
Recognition of loss allowance for the FNEEEE 2 ER

year 767 518

Effect of foreign currency exchange fERERRRE
difference (25) (12)
Balance at 31 December 7128318 2458k 1,255 513
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24

25

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A FELLOW
SUBSIDIARY, INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANIES AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

The amounts due from/to a fellow subsidiary, intermediate
holding companies and ultimate holding company are
unsecured, interest-free and receivable/repayable on
demand.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

(UATTIR)

23 U Bt —FEERREAR

FRZER AT RREZIZERATZ
HTAIE

-W’éﬂﬁl/ﬁ’éﬁ BRIRWEAS » PREER
RNEINRBREERABZHATSERR - 28
K BAZ B SRURELfEIE o

24 IREMIBITHER

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Cash at banks and in hand RITNFERE 13,281 17,996

Less: Restricted cash B ZRFHIIRE e (156)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated HAZESIRERERZBEEN

statement of cash flows REZEEY 13,281 17,840

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily

IRTTHEERUE BIRTERA R T B X5

bank deposit rates. Bo
CONTRACT LIABILITIES =ES=RE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FBT
Contract liabilities 586 227 1,340

The Group receives a deposit before certain technical
consultancy services and software development service
commence, which will give rise to contract liabilities until
revenue is recognised when the service is delivered to the
customers.

268 B XA T i 5 s AR 7S K R 1 A 3 AR 5
RERAIWEEZRE  LBKEESNER E
ERBRATFELREDR@ALL -
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25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

26

186

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract

liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue

(BB TTHR)

25 SRR GE

BB REMZzEmR I

TRINTFECEIRmTREEGNER

recognised for the year relates to carried-forward contract Rz UL o
liabilities.
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FETT
Revenue recognised that was included in the EHIstABNEGBERZ
contract liabilities balance at the beginning BRI
of the year:
— Provision of smart retail services — RHEEZERD 709 850
SHARE CAPITAL 26 Rg
Number of
shares Share capital
dnE 4=| fig s
‘000 HK$'000
T B2 FET
Authorised: ERE -
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 7520231818 »
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, 2023128318 ~
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each 202451 818 & 20244
128318 SRKREE
0.0058 T2 @R 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRER :
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 7£2023FE1 818 »
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, 2023128318 ~
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each 202451 818 & 2024E
128318 > SRKREE
0.0058 Tz BER 4,686,048 23,430
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 B RHEMEMRIE

2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables B 5 IE 204 9,335
Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind FEsti & MEMEYERN 1,590 1,048
Other payables and accruals Hih e RIB M FESTE B 2,292 2,630
Total trade and other payables B NEME [ HRIE4EEE 4,086 13,013
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based RERGHER  BZROREENSEEARZ

on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: IRELDMTAT -
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FBT
0-30 days 0E30H — 9,117
31-60 days 31ZE60H — —
61-90 days 61E90H — —
over 90 days #BiBo0H 204 218
204 9,335
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28 EIEFRISIR
2024 2023
HK$000 HK$'000
FET TET
Deferred tax assets IR IS E B 37 151
Deferred tax liabilities FIERRIBEE (42) (172)
(5) (21)
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised KEEaMBRIRERZELERE (BE),
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the BEZAEARI D RERESHUT !
movements during the year are as follows:
Right-of-use
Lease liabilities assets Total
HEaRE FEREEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TFABT TFAETT
At 1 January 2023 202318 1H — — —
(Credited)/charged to profit or (Gt A8%) B8 %
loss (Note 13) Nk (MF5E13) (151) 172 21
At 31 December 2023 and 752023128318 X
1 January 2024 202418 1H (1571) 172 21
Charged/(credited) to profit or BB (Bt A
loss (Note 13) Bx) (MEE13) 114 (130) (16)
At 31 December 2024 122024128 31H (37) 42 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

29 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 29 RIEEZHE4SLZEEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will

TREFVAEERETHEEZBRED
BRERENIFREES METHELEZE
BENRERBCKHARRBEERER GHAE
EEZGARERERTDESRETHZ

be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

REREZER -

Lease liabilities

Hear

HK$'000

TFAET

At 1 January 2023 75202318 1H 288
Financing cash flow MERETNE

— New lease arise — EEMAE 1,678

— Capital element of lease rentals paid — BENHEREZERTS (896)

— Interest element of lease rentals paid — EBENHEREZMET S 42
Other changes Hh&ks)

— Finance costs — BEAAE 42
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences bE R ERER A (5)
At 31 December 2023 and 722023FE 128310 &

1 January 2024 202418 1H 1,065
Financing cash flow MERERE

— New lease arise — EEMHAE 184

— Early termination of lease — BRI IETEE (605)

— Capital element of lease rentals paid — BENHEREZEARTS (416)

— Interest element of lease rentals paid — BENHEREZMER S (23)
Other changes HhEs)

— Finance costs — BB 23
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences fERERRTE (2)
At 31 December 2024 7520245 12H31H 226
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

30 MESFRS

Compensation of key management FTEEEASFHM

personnel

The remuneration of directors during the year was as FREEZMEUWT -

follows:
2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FETT

Short-term benefits e EAfE R 3,084 2,428

Post-employment benefits “ItEABEN 35 33
3,119 2,461

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any
material related party transactions during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Further details of balances with related parties are disclosed
in note 23.

bR EX NZEFGEEMBREEMEIFRE
BN REBPEE2024F K 2023F 12831
AIEFELREIMNERBELRS

BARRE 5 (R 2 — D SF B ICMIEE 23 TP ER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

31

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2024 and
2023 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are
held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal

place of business.

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued and

(UATTIR)

ERBZEEMBATFE

1520245 K% 2023 F 12 A3 BAKE 2 F E W
BABNT - FRIEXBRHA > HRAERE
SEERBEZEBERAER  FTiFBERE
m A ) LR ARE BT RIRERE o EMAR
USEMZBRTAREETZERME, o

Proportion of ownership

registration/operations  fully paid share capital/ interest held by Principal
Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity registered capital the Group activities
sEMRARILFEfR BETRBERES, FEERE
MEAELE R 3t B R v TE L EME RS FrEEEZT DL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
Hi# il %
E-silkroad.net Corporation BV, limited liability 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% — Investment holding
company States dollar ("USS$") (2023: 100%) (2023: —)
REBRUHES 1REE1ET 100% — REER
BREERE (M) 2 BEK (2023%F :  (2023%F . —)
100%)
Ocean Keen Investment BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
Holdings Limited company (2023: 100%) (2023: —)
ERREEREBRAT EEBEEUHS 1REEI1ETZ &BR 100% — REER
BREEAT (20235 © (2023 1 —)
100%)
Glory Top Management Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% — Investment holding
Limited company (2023: 100%) (2023: —)
BREEERLT FH BREELRH BTz BBk 100% — REER
(20235 © (2023 1 —)
100%)
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% — Investment holding
company (2023: 100%) (2023: —)
RAEBERAT HH > BREERE 1B EER 100% — REERK
(2023 :  (2023%F : —)
100%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(BB TTHR)

31 ZRBEZEEMBLTFE (&

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of issued and

Proportion of ownership

registration/operations  fully paid share capital/ interest held by Principal
Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity registered capital the Group activities
ML S BRITRMERE, TEERE
(o) YNSIE2E AR 3t BE R o TE i AMEAEE FrEREGZE DL TEXH
Directly Indirectly
HiZ fil 4
Shine Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 — 100% Investment holding
company (2023: =) (2023: 100%)
REREXBRAT BE > BREERE BTz BBk — 100% EZR
(20234 1 —) (2023% :
100%)
Zhong Tuo Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% — Investment holding
company (2023: 100%) (2023: —)
HBEREE 1REBEI1ZETZ B8R 100% — REER
EREEAT (2023%F :  (2023%F 1 —)
100%)
Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$100 — 100% Investment holding
Limited company (2023: —)  (2023: 100%)
BE > BREERE 1008 T2 B8R = 100% REZR
(20235 1 —) (2023 :
100%)
INFRIREERERAT  PRC, limited liability RMB490,000 - 51% Provision of smart
(Hangzhou Zhongtuo company (2023: —) (2023: 51%) retail services
Netcom Technology
Limited)*
FNRERBERRER  FE EREERH AR #490,0007T — 51% RUBZTERS
NG| (20234 1 —) (2023% :
51%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(UATTIR)

31 ARBEZETEMBLEFE (&)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued and Proportion of ownership

registration/operations fully paid share capital/ interest held by Principal
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity registered capital the Group activities
B3 layg:3 e BRITRMERE, FEEHE
MELFRLE IR 3t BE R o E M &S FrEtEEZE DL ITEXE
Directly Indirectly
Hig il %

B (FE) ERRE Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary share HK$100 - 51% Provision of smart
(Yuntuo (HK) Limited) company (2023: —)  (2023: 51%) retail services
R (HFE) ERATE 58> BREELRE 1008 w2 BBk — 51% RESZZERD
(20235 1 —) (2023 :

51%)

M BN ZI BB R B PRC, limited liability RMB500,000 - 100% Provision of
fE 22 B) (Hangzhou like company (2023: —)  (2023: 100%)  automotive
Chufa Network culture business
Technology Co., Ltd.)

MMNEIZI M B EEREE B BRETAR AR #500,0007T — 100% HRMEERIER
IRAE (20234 : —) (2023% :

100%)

DilEAS (UN) A8 ATE  PRC, limited liability RMB500,000,000 = — Provision of smart
FR 2 F) (XinYouji company (2023: —)  (2023: 100%) retail services
(Hangzhou) Network
Technology Co., Ltd)**

DR () BEEEE PR BREFRE A #500,000,0007T — — REBERZERE
lRAE* (2023%F 1 —) (2023% :

100%)
g English name for identification purpose only. E WX BTBERHM BN o
* The equity interests is held by individual nominee on behalf of the Group. * BT AR AN REEEIFE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MFFEIRRMIEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (W #E7T33)
31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31 &2
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
(@) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries (@)
that have material non-controlling
interests

Set out below is summarised financial information for
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited
(“Hangzhou zhongtuo”), the only subsidiary that has
non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.
The amounts disclosed for the subsidiary are before
inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of financial position

BIZEEMBARFR (&)

BEEARFERERZIERE
B A Z#E

TREJIMNRAEBREERAF
(TR - AEEE——BBEEKR
FFEREEZMBAT) 2B ERE
2 WEBABMMKEZ 2B A RREH
$H AT~ BEE o

Hangzhou zZhongtuo

MR REER mMRE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Non-controlling interest percentage JEIERRERTHLL 49% 49%
current assets MENEE 10,620 13,515
Current liabilities mENEaE 12,337 17,339
current net liabilities mEBaEFHE (1,717) (3,824)
Non-current assets EREEE 31 850
Non-current liabilities EREER 7 173
Non-current net assets ERHEEFE 24 677
Net liabilities BEFHE (1,693) (3,147)
Accumulated non-controlling interest RET TR ER (549) (1,262)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 31 KXRBZETEMBLATFIE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
(a) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries () BEEXRIFIERELGZZIFERE
that have material non-controlling B B 218 (&

interests (Continued)

summarised statement of comprehensive income Hangzhou Zhongtuo
EEBABER WU R
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FBT
Revenue W 28,940 22,011
Profit/(loss) for the year EEEEF(E8) 1,471 (3,281)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hftha2mE Bik) WA (17) 30
Total comprehensive income/ 2EBA(FX) #%8
(expense) 1,454 (3,251)
Profit/(loss) attributable to FEFE RS M B R A
non-controlling interest L (E518) 721 (1,608)

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  JEIZEPRHEREFE(L

attributable to non-controlling interest EWA S (%) 4858 713 (1,593)
Summarised statement of cash flows Hangzhou zZhongtuo
REREWER mMRE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET
Net cash generated from/(used in) EEATE (FTA)

operating activities R 35 (4,523)
Net cash generated from/(used in) SCEEBFTE, (FA) e

investing activities T RE 24 (30)
Net cash (used in)/generated from mEEE (FTA) Fi3iRE

financing activities HER (187) 611
Net decrease in cash and cash RENREEEBYHD FEE

equivalents (128) (3,942)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

31 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

196

(b) Financial information of subsidiaries in
which the equity interest is held by
individual nominee on behalf of the
Group

The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before inter-company eliminations.

(i

XinYouji (Hangzhou) Network Technology
Co., Ltd

(BB TTHR)

31 ZRBEZETEMBLTFE (&)

(b) REHRBARBARRSTEER
REZRBARZMBEN

UTHMBENBEE ARBHEETZ
L CE

(i) CFFAD (BiM) ABAS BT B IR 2 &1

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFATT

Revenue 35 — _
Loss for the year NEERIE — —
Net assets BEZRE = 5,000

XinYouji (Hangzhou) Network Technology Co., Ltd
is incorporated in 17 November 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group had decided to cease the business of
XinYouji (Hangzhou) Network Technology Co., Ltd.
On 21 October 2024, the individual nominee had
entered into the agreement with the Group to

cease the business.

LA () BEE M B R AE
75202311817 B AR IL o

HEZE2024%F12B31HIEEE »
REBMBERTE L LELOFEAD (FTM)
MEEMERABIZEH - I
2024108218 » AR AR
REBFT I RURIEET -
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33

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E M RRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& TER)

DISPOSAL OF BUSINESS

As referred in note 14, the Group discontinued its AWS cloud

32 LEXRFH

WA EE14FT L - AEBBEREXFHRE

services business ("“AWS") at the time of disposal of the IEEAWSERFFER (TAWS)) ©
business.
During the year, the Group entered into a memorandum of FERN AEBBE—ZBILE = FE]LREE

understanding with an independent third party to dispose of
its AWS for a cash consideration of US$600,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,772,000). AWS is principally engaged in provision of

cloud storage and computing services. The transaction was B31H5EM °

completed on 31 August 2024.

Analysis of assets and liabilities of AWS upon disposal was as

S8 0 LI £ R 18600,0003%E 5t (FHE 55
4,772,000 75) HE EHAWS e AWSEE R E=
REERTFENTERY - X5 BEH20245F8

HER AWS ZEEREBRINNT !

follows:
The net assets disposed of were as follows: HEZEEFEWT !
HK$'000
TAET
Bank balances IRITAEER 153
Trade receivables B 5 EINFERIE 863
Contract liabilities BHEE (523)
Net assets disposed of HEZEEZRE 493
Gain on disposal HE W 4,279
Consideration satisfied by cash DRELZNHZRE 4,772
Net cash inflow/(outflow) arising on disposal HEEEZRERA(CR) F5E
Cash received BUWIRE 4,772
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZIRTTHEBRNIRE (153)
4,619

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform

to the current year’s presentation.

33 LEBEF

TR e

PEABZERERAT » 2024 FERS

ETHEBRRFEEMNDBUNEEAFEZR

197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R MBS HmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB T3R)

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 ARSI ZHFEIRRIRNEEES
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

198

(@) Statement of financial position

(@) MBIRKRE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz~ BB MR E — —
Investments in subsidiaries KB ARZRE — —
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables HAhpE U iE 309 364
Amount due from ultimate holding FEWRALER AT 218
company 4 2
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary ER—ERRNEBRAEZ
F;IB 1 1
Bank balances RITHEER 12,703 17,342
13,017 17,709
Current liabilities Bk =N
Other payables HMEHRIBE 3,083 2,596
Amounts due to subsidiaries BB AR ZFIE 49,541 49,541
Amount due to intermediate holding FEAS RIS A B) 2 78
companies 610 67
53,234 52,204
Net current liabilities mEBaEFHE (40,217) (34,495)
Total assets less current liabilities #HEERREBAE (40,217) (34,495)
Net liabilities BEFEE (40,217) (34,495)
Capital and reserves BXRNEE
Share capital i 23,430 23,430
Reserves A (63,647) (57,925)
Total deficit B5 4t 48 %8 (40,217) (34,495)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FEMBHmRMEE

(UATTIR)

34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34 AR ZHBRRRNEHBEH

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(&

(b) FRBF)ZHEES

Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B[R
B {718 ffE REtEE Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FET THETT
Balance at 1 January 2023 5202318 18 2 & 8% 3,466,638 1 (3,558,908) (92,269)
Profit and total comprehensive REE G NEEBA
income for the year 4a%E — — 34,344 34,344
Balance at 31 December 2023 12023FE 128318 &
and 1 January 2024 20241 B1 R 2 &k 3,466,638 1 (3,524,564) (57,925)
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBENEARS
expense for the year LR — — (5,722) (5,722)
Balance at 31 December 2024 120241283182
LEER 3,466,638 1 (3,530,286) (63,647)
REABIERERAT » 2024 FEFRS 199
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the year ended 31 December

HZE12A318LLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TAET FET FAT
Results E4
Revenue Ui & 34,626 34,393 27,071 16,231 26,918
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (5F18) HFH) (15,489)  (22,097)  (11,154)  (11,716)  (6,877)
Continuing operations HFEREEE (13,486) (14,715) (10,460) (13,068)  (11,827)
Discontinued operations BARIEKREE (2,003) (7,382) (694) 1,352 4,950
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T AT RES (B548)
P LI
Owners of the Company ZN/NEIEZEE N (17,315)  (19,195) (9,746)  (10,108) (7,598)
Non-controlling interests JEERR R 1,826 (2,902) (1,408) (1,608) 721
(15,489) (22,097) (11,154) (11,716) (6,877)
At 31 December
12H31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHETT TFAT FATT TFHETT FHT
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Total assets HEEE 66,395 90,941 41,364 32,777 15,684
Total liabilities was (11,581)  (50,582)  (13,637)  (15,657) (5,458)
54,814 40,359 27,727 17,120 10,226
Equity attributable to owners of ZATIEEE AFEIGHE
the Company 56,552 38,681 27,396 18,382 10,775
Non-controlling interests JEVERR = (1,738) 1,678 331 (1,262) (549)
54,814 40,359 27,727 17,120 10,226
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